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MTN Rwandacell Plc
Directors' Repart
For the year ended 31 December 2021

The directors submit thair report together with the audited consolidated financial statemants for the
year ended 31 December 2021 which disclose the state of affairs of MTN Rwandacall Plc (the
“Company” and together with its subsidiary Company together the “Group™). On 3 February 2021 the
company changed its name from MTN Rwandacell Limited to MTN Rwandacell Plc, The Company
was listed on the Rwanda Stock Exchange on 4 May 2021

Principal activity

The principal activity of the Group is to provide fintech services, mobile and fived telecommunication
SErvices,

Staffing
The number of perscns employed by the Group at 31 December 2021 was 313 (2020: 278 employees)
Results and dividends

The Group made a prafit for the year ended 31 December 2021 of Rwf 22,423 million (2020: Rwf
20,226 million). During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group declared a dividend of Rwf
10,200 million (2020: Rwf 6,950 million).

Shareholding

The shareholders of MTN Rwandacell Pic as at 31 December 2021 ware: MTN Inlernational
T_Mm#mﬂtadnéaﬁﬁ %), MTH REL (Mauritius) Limited (25%) and Public (20%), whose shares are
isted on the Rwanda Stock Exchange.

Directors

The directors whao held office during the year and to the date of this report were:

Mr. Faustin Mbundu Chairperson/Appointed on 10 Aug 2021  Non-executive
Michael Fleisher Appointed on 1 July 2021 Non-executive
Riaan Wassals Appointed on 1 July 2021 Mon-executive
Patience Mutes| Appointed an 1 July 2021 MNon-executive
Julien Kavaruganda Appointed on 1 July 2021 Mon-executive
Yolanda Cuba Re-appointed on 30 Juna 2021 Mon-executive
Karabo Nondumeo Appointed on 1 July 2021 Non-executive
Mark Nkurunziza Re-appointed an 30 June 2021 Executive

Mitwa Ng'ambi Re-appointed on 30 June 2021 Executive

Evelyn Kamagaju Rutagwenda  Resigned on 30 June 2021 Non-executive
Regis Rugemanshuro Resigned on 30 June 2021 Mon-executive
Nosipho Molope Resigned on 31 May 2021 Nan-executive
Ricardo Varzielas Resigned on 30 April 2021 Mon-executive
Ebenezer Asante Resigned on 28 February 2021 Naon-gxecutive

Auditor

The Company’s auditor, PricewaterhouseC Rwanda Limited, continues in office in
accordance with Law No. 007/2021 of 5/02/2021 Governing Companies,
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MTN Rwandacell Ple (Formerly MTN Rwandacell Limited)
Statement of Directors' Responsibilities
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Law Mo. 007/2021 of 5/02/2021 Governing Companies requires the directors to prepare financial
staterments for each financial year that give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as
at the end of the financial year and of its profit or loss for the financial year, It also requires the directors
to ensure that the Group keeps proper accounting records that disclose, with reasonable accuracy,
the financial position of the Group. The directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of
the Group.

The directors accept responsibility for the annual financial statements, which have been prepared
using appropriale sccounting policies supported by reasonable eslimates, in conformity with
International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of Law No. 007/2021 of 5/02/2021
Govemning Companies. The directors are of the opinion that the financial statemenis give a true and
fair view of the state of the financial affairs of the Group and of its profit in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards. The directors further accept responsibility for the maintenance of
accounting records thal may be refied upon in the preparation of financial statements, as well as
designing, implementing and maintaining internal control redevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement.

Mothing has come to the attention of the directors to indicate that the Group will not remain a going
concern for at least twelve months from the date of this statemenl.

The accompanying financial statements on pages § to 89 were authorised for issue by the board of
direciors on 2022 and were signed on ils behall by:
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gE:DHT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF MTN RWANDACELL

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements

In cur opinion, the financial statements of MTN Rwandacall Ple (the "Company” together with its
subsidiary company together the "Group”) give a true and fair view of the financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2021 and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and with the requirements of
Law No.007/2021 of 5/02/2021 Governing Companies.

What wa have audited
MTH Rwandaceall Plo's consolidated financial statements set out on pages 8 to 69 comprise:

the Group and Company statement of financial position as at 31 Decamber 2021;

the Group and Company statement of comprehensive income for the year than ended;
the Group and Company statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

the Group and Company statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a summary of significant
accounting policies.

Basis for opinion

W conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibifities for
the audit of the financial slatements section of our report.

We believe thal the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 1o provide a
basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with IESBA international Code of Ethics for
Prafessional Accountants (including International Independence Standards). We have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the [ESBA Code.

Key audit mattars

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most :_;En_iﬁ@nm in
aur audit of the consclidated financial statements of the current year. |

r. The-matter-below was |
addressed in the contexd of our audit of the financial state 5 %ﬁ.ﬂpplhg. andinforming our epinion
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF MTN RWANDACELL

PLC {continued)

Kay audit matter (continued)

Key audit matior

* Recognition of revenue from contracts with
customers

As axplained in note 2b of the consolidated
financial statements the Group has several
revenue streams driven by different contractual
arrangements with customers,

The determination of the quantum and timing of
revenue recognition is complicated by the
multiple information lechnology systems, tariff
structures and pricing models for the various
products o customers.

Variations in the configurations of systems or

| accounting processes for the individual products
could result in matesially different revanue

recognition outcomes.

How key audit matter was addressed in the
audit

We have evaluated ihe Group's accounting
policies and process for revenue recognition.

We tested the design and cperating
affectiveness of the controls over the integrity of
the Information Technology systems used in the
processing and recording of revenue
transactions, including the general and
application contrals on the revenue billing
systems.

We tested the reconciliation of the revenue
information from the billing systems lo the
general ledger at the year end.

On a sample basis we tested individual
transactions for accuracy and ocourrence of
revenue ransactions, authorisation of rate
changes and input of information into the biling
systern during the year.

Wa compared the reported revenue against
expected revenue based on volume and tariff
rates for the various products.

We fraced the revenue amounts on a sample
basis to source systems and other supporting
documents.

We evaluated and lested the adequacy of the
relevant disclosures in the financial stalement.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information COMPrises
Directors’ Repert and Statement of Directors’ Responsiollities which we obtained pricr (o the
date of this auditors report, and the other information that will be included in the integrated
report which is expected to be made available to us after that dale but does not inclyde the:
consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report thereon——
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF MTN RWANDACELL
PLC (continued)

Other information {continued)

Our opinicn on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we
do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereaon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, cur responsibility is to read the other information
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistant witn
the consolidated financial stalements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there Is a material misstaternant of
this other informaticn, we are reguired to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard

\When we read the other information that will ba included in the integrated report, if we conclude
that there is a material misstatement there in, we are required to communicate the matter o
directors.

Respensibilities of the directors for the consolidated financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporling Standards and with the requiraments
of Law No.007/2021 of 5/02/2021 Governing Companies, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary 1o enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that ara free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability
of the Group 1o continue as a going concem, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concem
and using the going concern basis of accounting uniess the directors either intend to liquidate the Group
of to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do sa.

Directors are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial stalements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantae that an audit conducted in accordance with 1SAs will always detect a material misstaternent
when it exists. Missigtements can arise from fraud or error and are considered rraterial if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise profassional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

« Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinicn. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud Is higher than for ane resulting
from error, as fraud may invelve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions; misrepresantations, or
the override of Group's internal control. 1 CERTIFIED TRUE r,ﬂL'*E |
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF MTN RWANDACELL
PLC (continued)

Audilor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued)

« Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

s Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the drectors.

« Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concem basis of accounting
and. based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncenainty exists related lo
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going
concem. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exisis, we are required to draw attention in
our audilor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, o modify our opinion. Qur conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group
io cease (o conlinug as a going concern.

« Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statemants,
including the disclosures, and whether the consalidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

» Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion in the consolidated financial stalement,
We are responsible for the direction, supervision, and performance of the Group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

W comemunicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a staternent that we have complied with the relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them ail relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable related safeguarcs.

Erom the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that weare of most significance
in the audit of the financial statemants of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law o regulation preciudes public disclosure about the
maﬂﬂfurwhun,Inmhmu&wmm.wdmﬁmhﬂammnmmmmmumm
our report because the adverse consequences nidcingmwu}dmmmhhrmg:meﬂedmmghm
public interest beneofits of such communication,
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF MTN RWANDACELL
PLC (continued)

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Law No.007/2021 of 5/02/2021 Governing Companies requires that in carrying out our audit we consider
and report to you on the following matters. We confirm that

| WWe have oblained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and
belief were necassary for the purposes of our audit;

i Inour epinion, proper books of account have been kept by the Group, S0 far as appears from our
examination of those books;

il Ve have communicated to the Group's Board of Directors, through a separate management
letter, internal control matters identified in the course of our audit including our recommendations
in relation to those matters,

W. W have no relaticnship, no interests and debt in the Group; and
v.  Inour opinion sccording to the best of the information and explanations given to us as shown by

the accounting and other.documents of the Group, the financial statements comply with Article
122 of Law No. 007/2021 of 51022021 Governing Companies

For PricewaterhouseCoopers Rwanda Limited, Kigall

28 March 2022
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MTH Rwandacell Ple

Consolidated and Company statement of comprehensive income

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Revenue
Other income

Total income

Direct network operating costs
Government and regulatary costs

Cost of handsets and other accessories
Interconnection and roaming fees
Emploves banefils expense

Sales, distribution and marketing costs
Other operating expenses

impairment and write-down of financial assets
Depreciation

Depreciation — right of use asset
Amortisation

Government grant

Operating profit

Finance income
Finance costs

Profit before income tax

Income tax expense

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income, net of tax
Total comprehensive income for the year
Attributable to:

Equity holders of the company

Basic eamings per share
Diluted earnings per share

S(a)
a(b)

20 (a)
20 (k)
19

o |

35
35

The notes on pages 12 to B9 are an integral part of these financial statements.

Group and Gompany
2021 2020
Rwi 000 RwT 000
186,863,922 150,787,308
1,242,830 1.295644
188,126,752 152,013,043
(17,340,220) (12,405 250)
(5,010,880) (4.994,769)
{3,358,822) {3,184,204)
{5.625,074) (2.820,275)
(16.137.717) (12,426,423)
(28,732.223) (22.732,150)
(21.110,588) (16,915.711)
(187.852) (1.048,363)
(19,509,258) (14,962 683)
(11,534,323) (11,264,385
(4,681,264) (36,859)
d F56.668
54,098,112 48,788,589
1,801,501 1,118,744
(22 485, 746) (17.298,102)
33,513,957 32,609,231
(11,000,344) (12,382 458)
22,423,613 20,226,772
22,423,613 20,226,772
22,423,613 :ﬂlzﬂlﬂﬂ
Restated
17 15
17 15
R F-x- - .r ni : Tlf” v
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MTHN Rwandacell Ple
Consolidated and Company statement of financial position
As at 31 December 2021

Group Company
Moles 201 2021 2020
Rwi{'000 Rwi"000 Rwi"000
ASBETS
HNon-current assets
Indefeasible rights of use assets (IRUs) 16 8,230,572 8,230,572 6,963,134
Intangible assels 18 BEB,854, 513 86,864 513 9448
Pro . plant and equipment 20 a} B3 082 301 83,082,391 BB, 825277
Right of use assets 20(b 84,139,018 84,139,019 80,530,138
Investment in subsidiary T - 200,000 -
Inbercompany loan 37 - 500,000 -
Total non-current assets 262,316,495 263,016,495 154,327 997
Current assets
Cufrent income tax 9 2,474 259 2474258 -
Indefeasible rights of use assets {(IRUs) 16 1,158019 1,158,018 845 567
Restricted m& ) 1??::; 86,759,068 - 66,269,879
Cash and cash equivalents 17ia 12,185,937 11,485,937 22.211.71
Deposits with financial institutions 18 10,220 458 10,220,458 3,842,250
Inventornes 21 1.506.956 1,506,956 1,128,841
Trace and other receiables 22 39,738.185 38,738,185 £0,136 457
Total current assets 1 BE2 5 14 134,385,865
Total assets 418 77 329,600,309 288,713,862
Eﬂl.lll'wl"l" AMD LIABILITIES
qu
Ordinary share capital 1 1,350,887 1,350,887 15,000
Retained earnings 55,841,514 £5,941,514 45,053 788
Shareholders loans 12 - - 3,660,000
Other reserves 13 1,500 1,500 1,500
Total equity 57,293,901 57,293,901 T30
Liabilities
Mon-current liabilities
Deferrad income tax 14 14,9156, 513 14,816,513 14,158,020
Ennmﬂnﬁ 15 83,367,212 83,367,212 23,968,135
Lease liabiities 25 65 1E0 689 66,380 689 65 380,689
Total non-current liabilities 164,664,414 164,664,414 104,538,844
Current labilities
Deferad revenue EH:': 3117051 3. 117,051 2815113
Currant income tax - - 3,534 936
Borrowi 15 7.273,828 7,273,625 5,021,585
Trade ar'lg other payables 23(a) 60,261,395 60,261,385 34,%_ a ; E
Mobile mo ables 231b 86,769,068 - B85 268,
Prowvision sna'; e ?:4 } 878,054 878,004 1,332 101
Lease liabilities 25 ZB 618,910 28618910 22.167,004
Sharaholder loan 815,000 915,000 =
Bank owerdraft 6,577,918 6,577,918 =
Total current liabilities 194,411,062 107,641,994 1 T30
Total liabilities 359,075,476 272,306,408  _ 239,983,574
Total equity and liabilities __ 416,369,377 329,600,209 288 '.-'1_ 862
i CERTIFIED TRUE COPY
The notes on pages 12 to 69 are an integral part of these financial statementsnicinar Cocomtnn
lmenen. MM
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MTN Rwandacell Plc

Consolidated and Company statement of cash flows

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Motes

Cash flows from operating

activities

Cash generated from operations ao
Interest received B
Interest paid

Tax paid g

Mel cash generated from
operating activities

Cash flows from investing
activities

Purchase of property, plant and
equipment

Deposil placements with financial
institutions

Mon-current prepayments
Fayment for G3M Metwork
License

Imvestment in subsidiary ar
Loan to subsidiary 37

20(c)

Met cash used in investing
activities

Cash flows from financing

activities

Principal elaments of leases

payments 25
Dividends paid 10
Bank cverdraft 15
Increase in borrowing 15
Fepayment of principal 15
Repaymant of interest 15
Net cash generatedi{used) in
financing activities

Met increase/decrease in cash
and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of the year
Exchange gains on cash and
cash equivalenis

Cash and cash equivalenis at

end of the year 17(a)

I
The notes on pages 12 to 69 are an integral pan of these financial staternents

Group Company

2021 2021 2020
Rwi'000 Rwf'000 Rwi'000
85,094,045 85,094,045 62,835,240
800,546 BO0, 546 Tig.118
(44,250) (44,250} (97,789)
(16,002,906) {16.002,906) (6,315,472)
69,847 435 69,847 435 57,140,097
(37,084 ,855) (37,084,855) {22 583,362)
(6,820,458) {8.820,458) (218,263)
(631,925) (631,925) .

(63,354,280) (63,354,280)
- (200,000) .
= (500,000) -
(107,901,518) (108,601,518) (22,801,625)
(22.276,082) (22,276,982) {18,592,607)
{10,200,000) (10,200,000 (6,950,000)
G.577.018 6,577,818 -
64,000,000 64,000,000 2
(5,823.323) (5,823,333) (5.932,138)
(4,197 588) (4,197 586) (5,045,819)
28,080,018 28,080,018 (38,521,554)
(9,974,065) (10,674,085) (2,183,092}
22,111,731 22,211,731 24 362,837
{51,729) (51,729) 31,986
12,185,937 11,485,937 22211,
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MTN Rwandacell Plc
Consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Moles

1

General information

The company is incorporated in Rwanda as a Public liability company and listed on the Rwanda Stock
Exchange The address of its registerad office is:

MTN Centre
Myarutarama

P.O Box 264, Kigali
Rwanda

The company is controlied by MTN International (Mauritius) Limited. Its parent and ultimate holding
company i MTN Group Limited, a company incorporated in the Republic of South Africa and lsted
on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange. The principal aclivity of the Company is providing mobile
telecommunication senvices and fintech sarvices,

For Rwanda Companies Act reporting purposes, the balance sheet is represented by the statement
of financial position and the profit and loss account by the statement of comprehensgive income in
these financial statements.

Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set
out below and in the related notes to the Group's consolidated financial statements. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Repering
Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and comply with
the requirements of Law No.007/2021 of 5/02/2021 Goveming Companies. The Group has adopted
all new accounting pronouncements that became effactive in the current reporting period.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis,

Amounts are rounded to the nearest thousand with the exception of the number of ordinary share
capial (note 11). The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabities, income and expenses. Actual
results may differ from these estimates. Information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty
and eritical judgements in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements ane included in note 4,

The nates to the financial statement have been presented for Group and Company unless specified
olhenwise.
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MTH Rwandacell Plc
Consolldated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Motes {contirued )

2

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

A  Basis of preparation (continued)
{i) Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (continued)

i) New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following standards and amendments for the first time for their annual
reporting period commencing 1 January 2021:

+ Covid-19-Raelated Rent Concessicns — amendments to IFRS 16, and
= |nterest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2 — amandments to IFRS 8, 1AS 39, IFRS 7,
IFRS 4 and IFRS 16,

The amendments listed above did not have any impact on the amounts recognised in prior
periods and are not expected to have a material effect to the Group's financial statements.

if} New amended standards nof yet adopted by the Group

The below new accounting standards and inlerpretations have been published that are not
mandatory for 31 December 2021 reporting periods and have not been early adopted by the
Group. These sfandards are not expecied to have a material impact to the Group in the curment or
future reporting perods and on foreseeable future transactions.

Mumber Effective date Execulive summarny

IFRS 17, ‘Insurance Annual periods beginning onor  The 1ASE issued IFRS 17,

contracts' after 1 January 2023 "Insurance contracts’, and
thereby staried a new epoch of

Early application is permitted  accounting for insurers.

for entities that apply IFRS 8,  Whereas the current standard,
‘Financial Instruments’, and IFRS 4, allows insurers o use
IFRS 15, "Revenue from their local GAAP, IFRS 17
Contracts with Cusiomers’, at defines clear and consistent
or before the date of initial rules that will significantly

application of IFRS 17. increase the comparability of
financial statements, For
{Published May 2017) insurars, the transition to IFRS

17 will have an impact on
financial statemaents and on

key performance indicators

Under IFRS 17, the genaral
model requires entities to
MEasUune an insurance contract
AP at initial recognition at the total
CERTEEN THUE COBY af the fulfiiment cash fiows
ET OrGINAL ool NT {comprising the estimated
e NZ D M/q ﬂltllamhﬂumﬁeﬂ
s 1 adjustment to're the time
RATS e & .L}}HL’.LH}. s gl i
| Fsib risk adjustment for non-
pe  Pal Beanda Limited financial risk) and the
' " - contractual servica margin,
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MTN Rwandacell Pl
Consoclidated financial statements
For the year endad 31 December 2021

Moles (continued)

Summary of significant accounting policies {continued)

Basis of preparation (continued)

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (continued)

i} Mew amended standards nol yet adopled by the Group [continuad)

Number Effective date
IFRS 17, 'Insurance (continued)
contracis’{conlinued)

14

Executive summary

The unearned profit
{contractual sarvice margin) is
recognised over the coverage
period. Aside from this general
model, the slandard provides,
as a simplification, the
premium allocation approach,
This simplified approach is
applicable for certain types of
contract, including those with a
coverage period of one year or
less.

For insurance confracts with
direct participation features,
the variable fee approach
applies. The variable fee
approach i a variation on the
general model. When applying
the variable fee approach, the
entity’s share of the fair value
changes of the underlying
items is included in the
contractual servica margin, As
a consequence, the fair valua
changes are not recognised in
profit or loss in the period in
which they occur but over the
remaining life of the contract.
The fulfiment cash fiows are
remeasured on a current basis

each reporting pefiod.



MTH Rwandacell Plc
Consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Motes (continued)
2  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
A  Basis of preparation {continued)
{iy Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (continued)
i) New amended standards nol yet adopled by the Group (continued)

Number Effective date Executive summary

IFRS 17, Ingurance Annual periods  In respansa io some of the concerns and

contraclts Amendments beginningon  challenges raised, the IFRS Board developed
or after 1 targeted amendments and a number of

January 2023  proposed clarifications intended to ease
implementation of IFRS 17, simplify some

(Publshed requiremeants of the standard and easea

June 2020) transition. The amendments reate to eighl areas
of IFRS 17, and they are nol intended to change
the fundamental principles of the standard or
unduly disrupt implementation already
underway

Amendment to IFRS 3, Annual periods The IFRS Board has updated IFRS 3, 'Business
‘Business combinations’  beginningon  combinations’, 10 refer to the 2018 Conceptual

or after 1 Framework for Financial Reporting, in order to
Asset or liability in a January 2022  deterrmine what constiiutes an assel or a liability
business combination in a business combination,
clarity (Published

May 2020) In addition, the Board added a new axception in

IFRS 3 for liabilities and contingent liabilities.
The exception specifies thal, for some lypes of
liabilities and contingent llabilities, an entity
applying IFRS 3 should instead refer to IAS 37,
‘Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets’, or IFRIC 21, "Levies', rather
than the 2018 Concaptual Framework.

The Board has also clarified that the acguirer
should nof recognise contingent assets, as
defined in LAS 37, at the acquisition cate.

Amendmeants to IAS 16 Annial periods  The amendment to LAS 16 prohibits an entity

"Property, Plant and beginning on from deducting from the cost of an item of PPE
Equipment”: Proceeds or after 1 any proceeds received from selling items
before Intended Lise January 2022 produced while the entity is preparing the asset

far its intendad use (for exampla, the proceeds
{Published from selling samples produced whan testing a
May 2020) machinea to see if it is functioning properly). The
proceeds from selling such items, together with
the costs of producing them, are recognised in
I ————— profit or loss.
| creTiFED TRUE COPY
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MTN Rwandacell Pl
Consolidated financial statements
For the yoar ended 31 December 2021

Motes (continued)

2
A

(i)

Summary of significant acceunting policies (continued)
Basis of preparation (continued)
Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (continued)

) New amended standards nof yet adopled by the Group fconlinued)

Number
Amendments to
IAS 3T
‘Provisions,
Contingent
Liabilities and
Contingeant
Agsats’ on
Onerous
Contracts—Cost
of Fuifilling a
Contract

Effective date

Annual pericds
beginning on or
after 1 January
2022

{Published May
2020)

Annual penods
beginning on or
after 1 January
2022

{Published May
2020)

Executive summary

The amendment clarifies which costs an entity includes
in assessing whether a contract will be loss-making.
Thiz assessment is made by considering unavoidable
costs, which are the lower of the net cost of exiting the
contract and the costs to fulfil the contract. The
amendment clarifies the meaning of 'costs to fulfila
contract’, Under the amendment, costs to fulfil a
contract include incremental costs and the allocation of
other costs that relate directly to fulfiling the contract

These amendments include minor changes to:

+ |FRS 1, "First ime adoption of IFRS" has
been amended for a subsidiary that
becomes a first-ime adopter after ils
parent. The subsidiary may elect to
measura curmnulativa translation differences
for foreign operations using the amounts
reported by the parent at the date of the
parent's transition fo IFRS.

« |FRS 9, ‘Financial Instruments’ has bean
amended to include only those cosis or
fees paid betwean the borrower and the
lender in the calculation of “the 10% lest”
for derecognition of & financial liability.
Fees paid to third parties are excluded
from this calculation.

+ [FRS 16, 'Leases’. amendment to the
lustrative Example 13 that accompanias
IFRS 16 to remove the illustration of
payments from the lessor relating to
leasehold improvements. The amendment
intends to remave any potential confusion
about the ireatment of lease incentives.

= |AS 41, “Agriculture’ has been amended o
align the requirements for measuring fair
value with those of IFRS 13. The
amendment removes the requirement for
entities to exclude cash fliows for taxation
when measuring fair value.
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(1)

5 [continued)

Summary of significant accounting pellcles (continued)

Basis of preparation [continwed)

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures [continued)

i) New amended standards not yet adopled by the Group (continved)

Number Effective date Executive summary

Amendment to 1AS 1 Annual periods  The amendment clarifies that iabilities are

‘Presentation of Financial  beginning on classified as either current or non-curnent,

Statemenis’ on or afier 1 depending on the rights that exist at the-end of

Classification of Liabilities  January 2022  the reporting period. Classification is unaffected

as Current or Mon-current by expeciations of the entity or events after the
(Published Jan reporting date (for example, the receipt of a
20200 waiver of a breach of covenant).

Principles of consolidation and equity accounting

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the group has control. The
group controls an entity whare the group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its
imvolvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those retums through its power to dinect the
activities of the entity, Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which controd is
transferred to the group. They are deconsolidaled from the date that control ceases

Inter-company fransactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group
companies are eliminated. Unrealized losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the ransferred assetl. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary o ensure congisiency with the policies adopted by the group.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporiing provided to
the chief operating decision maker. The board of MTN Rwandacell Plc has appointed the Group
Executive Commities (CODM) which assesses the financial performance and position of the
Group and makes strategic decisions. The steering commitiee, which has been identified as
baing the chief operating decision maker, consists of the Group's execulive committee.

The Group has identified reportable segments that are used by the Group Executive Committes
o make key operaling decisions, allocate resources and assess performance. The reportable
segments are largely grouped according to the operations primarily Fintech and
Telecommunication business segments which are used to examine the Group's performance,

The Group's underlying operations and product lines are clustered as follows:

» Telecommunication services. This comprises of data, voice, SMS, value added services
rich media services, and airime lending.
= Fintech services. Finance technology (Fintech) relates to mobile money services.
The Group executive committee primarily uses a measure of adjusted earings before interest,
tax, depreciation, and amortisation (EBITDA, see below) fo assess the performance of the
aperaling segments.

Interest income, finance cost, borrowings, network assets, licences, borrowings, IRUs and right of

—- ——usaassats ara not allocated to segments, as this type of activity is driven by the central function,

crrTwhich fanages the cash position of the group.
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MTHN Rwandacall Plc
Consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

MNotes (continued)

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when or as the Group fransfers confrol of goods or services 1o a customer
at the amount o which the Group expecis o be entifled. Depending on whether certain criteria
are met, revenue is recognised;

« over time, in @ manner that best reflects the delivery of the Company's performance
obligations; or
« ata pointin time, when control of the goods or services is transferrad o the customer,

The Group applies tha five-step modal as per IFRS 15 - Revenue from contracts with customers,
to determina when to recognise revenue and at what amount. The following approach is used:

Identify the contract with a2 customer;

Identify the performance obligations in the contract;

Determine the transaction price;

Allocate the transaction price to the parformance obligations in the contract; and
Recognise revenue.

- = = & =

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer and
excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

The Group accounts for a coniract with a customer only when; there s evidence of an
arrangement, the company can identify each party's rights regarding the goods and services to
be transferred, the contract has commercial substance and collectahility is reasonably assured,

The Group principally generates revenue from providing mobile telecommunications semvices,
such as network services (comprising of data, voice and SMS), digilal services, interconnect and
roaming senvices, as well as from sale of mobile davices. Products and services may be sold
separately or in bundled packages. The typical length of a contract for a post-paid bundied
package is 24 montha

For bundled packages, the Group accounts for individual products and services separately if
they are distinct - ie. if a product or service is separately identifiable from other items in the
bundlad package and it a customer can benafit from it The consideration is allocated batweaen
separate products and services in a bundle based on their stand-alona selling prices. The stand-
alone selling prices are determined based on the list prices at which the Group sells mobile
davices and network services separately.

The main categories of revenue and the basis of recognition are as foliows:
Network services

Voice and SMS services enable both prepay and postpay customers to make calls and send
tend respeclively within and cutside the network. Prepay customers top up their phones by
either buying prepay cards from dealers, other retail outiets, by using mobile money or
borrowing credit through emergency top up service. They can also receive airtime from other
subscribers. Postpay customers subscribe to various tariffs and are billed at the end of the
monith based on a fixed-charge-or.usage. Revenue from prepay voice customers is recognised
on usage, | CERTr R

e -0 TRUE cop
OFT FRIGINAL L|'.'l'-'i'1‘rr“r 1
Stamsn MN. "
| PATE. 310X 2003
2 -

'||,‘| . S
L _r_".- .'-':".'||::|_:j|:1'aa i |



MTN Rwandacell Plc
Consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Motes (continuad)

2  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
B Revenue recognition (continued)
Network services{continued)

Mobile data enables both prepay and post pay customers access the internet. Prepay customers
top up their ines by purchasing credit ar bundies in advance whersas Post pay customers are
availed credit based on the tariff subscribed. Mobile data has & wide range of propositions
gvailable as per customers’ requirements, The data bundies are deferred on purchase and
recognised as revenue on usage. The validity of purchased but un-utilized data bundles s
extended upon additional purchase of data bundles and the company prompts the subscriber in
advance before unutilised bundies expire and are consequently unavaitable for use. The Group
has in piace Data Manager tool that gives subscribers power to contral data bundle usage and
allows them to restrict browsing out of bundie which avoids instances of higher pricing when
browsing the internet

A contract liabifity is recognised for amounts recaived in advance, until the sarvices are pravided
of when the usage of services becomes remote.

Network services (comprising voice, data and SMS) are considerad to represent a single
perfarmance obligation as all are provided over the MTM netwark and transmitted as data
representing a digital signal on the network. The ftransmission of voice, data and SMS all
consume network bandwidth and therefore, irrespective of the nature of the communication, the
subscriber ultimately receives access to the network and the right to consume netwark
bandwidth. Naetwork services are, therefore viewed as a single performance obligation
represented by capacity on the MTN network.

Mobile manay revenue

Mobile money is a mobile money transaction service allowing customers to deposit, transfer and
withdraw money or pay for goods and services using a mobile phone. Mobile money is available
to all MTN subscribers (Prepay and Postpay). Registration is free and available at any mobile
money agent countrywide. Revenue from this service is eamed largely from transfer and
withdrawal transactions performed by customers. A graduated tariff depending on the funds
being transactad is applied on all transactions which are cumulatively reporied as mobile money
transachion commission revenue,

In line with the financial inclusion strategy Group has partnered with NCBA to offer MoKash
services. These services enable customers to save and get koans. Revenue is shared among
the pariners on the basis of the facility fee and other charges to customers based on a pre-
determined revenue share matrix,

Dhgital zervices

Digital services include value-added services, rich media services and airtime lending.
Customers either pay in advance for these services or pay monthly in equal instalments over the
contractual period. A contract liability is recognised for amounts received in advance, until the
services are provided or when the usage of services becomes remote.
= ————The Grotp recognises revenue from these services as they are provided. Revenue is recognised
| croviocbased emactual units of digital services provided during the reporting peried as a propartion of
| OF 7 7 the botal Units'of digital services to be provided. The customer receives and uses the benefits of
=i zp Mhhge services simultaneously. Units of digital services outside of postpaid contracts are
'.;3“'”5-']-'2,- j as the service is provided.
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MTN Rwandacell Plc
Consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Motes (continued)

2  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

B Revenue recognition (continued)

Icr

The Group has in place its Home Fibre i e, Fibre To The Home (FTTH) and Fibre to the Building
(FTTB) services that enable fast, reliable and unlimited internet access from the comfort of a
customer's home/premises. This service is open and available o all customers residing within
areas that have the Group's fibre infrastruciure ready and have applied o have their homes
fpremises connected to the Group's fibre grid, The price charged is based on the bandwidth and
speed contracted by the customer. The price is charged upiront for a standard period of 30 days
and the customer can renew the subscription by making a payment The amount charged is
deferred and recognized as revenue proportionately over the subscription period,

Interconnect and roaming

The Group has signed interconnect agreemeants with both local and foreign partners. This allows
customers from either network to originate or terminate calls to each other's network. Revenua
is earned and recognised when partners’ calls are terminated to the Group's netwark i.e. the
service s rendered

The Group has reaming agreements with roaming partners that enable customers to make and
receiva calls when traveling around the world. The agreed charges differ per partner. When
visitors roam on Group's network, revenue is eamed by billing the visiting customers’ network
while revenue from Group's customers is eamed from customer billing for voice, SMS and data
usage while roaming on other networks. Revenue is recognised on billing.

Payment for interconnect and roaming |s genarally received on a monthly basis. The Group has
considerad historical payment patterns (i e, cusiomary business practica) in assessing whether
the confract contains a significant financing component. For contracts containing a significant
financing component, the company reduces interconnect and roaming revenue and recognises
inerest revanue over the period between satisfying the related performance obligation and
payment

Mobile devices

Tha Group selis a range of mobile devices, The Group recognises revenue when customess oblain
contrel of mobile devices, being when the customers take possession of the devices. For mobile
devices sold separately, customers pay in full at the poinl of sale. For mobile devices sold in
bundled packages, customers usually pay monthly in equal instalments over a period of 24 months.

The Group assesses these contracts including handsets to determine if they contain a significant
financing component. The Group does not expect to have any material financing component in
the confracts where the period between the transfer of the promised goods or sarvices to the
customer and payment by the customer exceeds one year. As a consequence, the Group does
not adjust any of the transaclion prices for the time value of money.

Capitalisation of subscriber acquisifion costs

| The Group-expects that incremental subscriber acquisiion costs for obtaining and renewing
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MTN Rwandacell Ple
Consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Motes (continued)

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
B Revenue recognition (continued)
Simcard

This represents connection revenue which arises from first time activation of a sim-card bought by a
subscriber, It is the amount paid by the subscriber to obtain @ sim-card.

Other income

This includes, amaong others, sile rentals. Site rental revenue is billed menthly and is based on the
number of sites and equipment hosted per sile. Revenue Is recognized systematically over the lease
period.

€ Functional currency and translation of foreign currencies
{l) Functional and presentation currency

Itams included in the financial statemants of the Group are measured using the currency that best
reflacts the primary aconomic environment in which the Group operates (the functional currency).
The Group financial statements are presented in Rwanda francs, which is the functional and
prasentation currency of the Group.

[iii} Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates
a1 the dates of the tranzactions. Foreign exchange gains or losses resulting from the satiismeant of
such transactions and from the translation at reporting date exchange rates of monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss.

D Property, plant and eguipment

Property, plant and equipment are measured at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses. Property, plant and equipment acquired through business combinations are initially
shown at fair value and are subsequently camied at the initially determinad fair value less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes expenditure that is directly atfributable to the
acquisition or construction of the assets, any other costs directly atiributable to bringing the assets to
the location and condition for their intended use and the present value of estimated decommissioning
costs. Purchased software that is integral 1o the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as

pari of the equipment.

Property, plant and equipment under construction are measured at initial cost and depreciated from
the date the asseis are available for use in the manner intended by management over their
estimated useful lives. Assets are transferred from capital work-in-progress fo an appropnate
categary of property, plant and equipment when commissioned and ready for their intfended usa.



MTH Rwandacell Plc
Consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Notes {confinued)

2  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
D Property, plant and equipment {continued)

The present value of the expecied cost for the decommissioning of an asset afler its use is included
in the cost of the respective asset if the recognition criteria for a provision are met.

The Group capitalises general and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the acguisition,
construction or production of a qualifying asset as part of the cost of that asset. A qualfying asset s
deamed to be an asset which takes more than 12 months to acquire, construct or produce. Borrowing
costs include general and specific borrowings directly atiributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, Other borrowing costs are expensed in profit or loss.

Asset exchange transactions are transactions where one or more ftems of property, plant and
equipment are acquired in exchange for non-monetary assets, or @ combination of monetary and
npon-monetary assets. In circumstances whereby the Group enters Into an asset exchange
trangaction, the Group determines whether such an exchange has commercial substance.
Commercial substance depends on the extent to which the Company’s future cash flows are
expected to change as a result of the transaction. A fransaction has commercial substance if the
difference in either of the points below is significant relative to the fair value of the assels exchanged:

. the configuration of the cash flows of the assel received differs from the canfiguration of the
cash flows of the asset given up, or

. the entity-specific value of the part of the operalions affected by the transaction changes as
a result of the axchange.

Property, plant and equipment acquired in an exchange transaction is measured at fair value unless
the exchange transaction lacks commercial substance or the fair value of neither the asset received
nor the assel given up is reliably measurable. |f the acguired item is not measured at fair value, its
cost is measured at the carrying amount of the assel given up. Any consideration paid or payable
is included in the cost of the asset received,

In instances whereby the Group receives assels for no consideration, the Group accounts for these
at cost in accordance with |1AS 16 Properly, Plant and Equipment, baing 2ero value.

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are
accounted for as separata ilerms (major companeants) of property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method to write down thair cost io their residual values
over their estimated useful ives. |n determining residual values, the Company uses historical sales
and management's best estimate based on market prices of similar items.

Useful Ives of property, plant and equipment are based on management estimates and take into

account historical experience with similar assets, the expected usage of the asset, physical wear and
tear, technical or commercial obsolescence and legal restrictions on the use of the assets.
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MTH Rwandacell Plc
Consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Notes {continued)
2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
D Property, plant and equipment (continued}
Tha estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Buildings Over the period of the lease
Leasehold improvements 3 to b years

Metwork infrastructure 2 to 20 years

Imformation sysiems 4 to 8 years

Fumniture and fittings 4 1o B years

Molor vehicles 4 years

Office equipment 4 to 6 years

Useful lives and residual values are reviewed on an annual basis and the effects of any changes in
estimates are accounted for on a prospective basis.

The assels' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each
balance sheet date,

Assats held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis
as owned assets of, whare shorter, the axpected term of the relevant lease

An assel's carrying amount 5 writlen down immediately to its estimated recoverable amount if the
assel's carmying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an asset 5 determined as the difference
between sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, and is included in operating profit

E Impairment of non —financial assets

An impairment loas is recognised in profit or less if the carrying amount of an assel or its cash-
generating unit exceeds its estimated recoverable amount The recoverable amount of an asset or
cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing
value in use, the estimated fulure cash flows are discountad to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects curent market assessments of the time valve of money and the risks
specific to the asset

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped fogether into the smallest group of assets
that generate cash infiows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of
other assets or groups of assets (the “cash-generating unit’).

When an impairment loss subsequenily reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-
generating unit) is increased o the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but limited fo the
carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an Impairment loss is recognised
immed iately in profit or loss. An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed,
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 BETRR o . LIE -':-1-'--.- |
Notes {continued) % B
2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) | . I__-.'_J ) .
F Intangible assets VE Pl Ruand

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful iife or nat yef available for use
Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life or not yet available for use are tested for impairment at
ieast annually and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

Property, plant and equipment and infangible assels with finite useful lives

The Group annually reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment and intangible
assels with finite useful lives in order to determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairmant loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amounts of the assets
are estimated in order io determine the extent, if any, of the impairmant loss.

Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the cost of inlangible assets over thair
estimated useful lives, The estimated useful lives are as below.

Matwork licensas 10 years
Software 4 years

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an intangible asset s determined as the
difference between the proceeds from the disposal and the carmmying amount of the asset, and is
included in profit or loss.

Costs associated with maintaining intangible assels are recognised as an expense as incumed.

Costs that are directly associated with the production of identifiable intangible assets controlled by the
Group, and that will probably generata economic benefits, are capitalised when all the criteria for
capitalisation are met,

Expenditure that enhances or extends the performance of intangible assets beyond their original
specifications s recognised as a capital improvement and added to the original cost of the asseds.
Expenditure on research activities is recognisad as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

G Accounting for leases

The Group's leases include network infrastructure (including tower space and land), retafl stores, and
wehicles. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods varying between 1 to 10 years but may
have renewal perods as described below.

As a lessea, the Group previously classified leases as operating or finance leases based on its
assessment of whether the lease transferred substantially all of the nsks and rewards of cwnership.
Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) were charged
to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

The Group recognisas right-of-use assels and lease liabilities at the lease commencement date for
most laases. Howaver, the Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and laase liabilities
for some leases of low-value assels (2.g. rentals for executive staff) and for short-term leases, ia.
leases that at commencement date have lease terms of 12 months or less.

— The Group defings ow value leases as leases of assets for which the value of the underlying assat
when it is-pew is | Ussﬁnununm and is not considered fundamental to its network, The Group

CFrecognises the haaa paymn!,s associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis
= lease tarm,

7., The Group defines low value leases as leases of assets for which the value of the underlying asset
when it is new is USS5 000 or less and is not considerad fundamental to its network,
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G Accounting for leases (continued)

The Group recognises the lease payments associated with thesa laases as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the leasa tarm.
The lease liability is intially measured at the present value of the following lease payments:

= Fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any incentives receivable.

» Variable lease payments that are based on an index or rate, measured using the index or rate as
at the lease commencement date.

= Amaounts that are expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees.
The exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option,
Payments of penalfies for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising that
option.

The lease payments are discounted using the interast rate implicit in the lease. |f that rate cannot ba
readily determined, the Group's incremental borrowing rale is used, being the rate that the lessea
would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value in a similar
economic environment with similar terms and conditions. Generzlly, the company uses its incremental
bomowing rate as the discouni rate.

The lease liability is subsequently increased by the interest cost on the lease liability and decreased
by lease paymenis made. Interest costs are charged to the income statement over the lease period
s0 a5 to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each
period. It is remeasured when there is a change in future lease paymenis arising from a change in
index or rate, a change in the estimate of the amount payable under a residual value guarantee, or as
appropriate, changes in the assessment of whether a purchase or extension option 15 reasonabby
certain o be exercised or a lermination option is reasonably cerain not to be exercised,

The right-of-use asseis are initially measured at cost comprising the following:
s The amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability.
= Any lease payments made al or before the commencement data less any lease incentives

recs e,
= Any initial direct costs.

Decommissioning costs,
Tna right-of-use assets are subsaguently measured at cost less any accumulated depraciation and
impairment losses and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability. The right-of-usa
assets are depreciated over the shorter of the assets’ useful lives and the lease terms on a straight-
line basis,

Renewal and lerminalion oplions

A number of lease contracts include the option to renew the lease for a further pericd or terminate
the lease earlier. The majority of extension and termination options held are exercisable only by the
company and not by the respective lessor.

In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an
aconomic incentive fo exercise an axtension option, or not exercise a termination option. Extension
oplions (or periods after termination options) are only included in the lease term if the lease is
reasonably certain to be extended (or not terminated). The Group applies judgement in assessing
whather it is reasonably likely that options will be exercised,

Factors considered include how far in the future an option occurs, the Group's business planning
cycle of three to five years and past history of terminating/not renewing leases. The assessment is
reviewed if a significant event or a significant change in circumstances occurs which affects this
assessment and that is within the control of the lessee.
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A number of leases entitle both the Group and the lessor to terminate the lease without a termination
panalty. In determining whether the company has an economic incentive to not exercise the
tesmination option, the company considers the broader economics of the contract and not only
contrachual lermination paymenis.

Leaze and non-lease componants

A number of lease contracts include both lease and non-lease components. The Group alocates the
consideration in the contract 1o each lease and non-lease component an the basis of thair relative
stand-alone selling prices. The stand-alone selling prices of each component are based on available
market prices. The Group has not elected the practical expadient to account for non-lease
components as par of its lease liabilities and right-of-use assets. Therefore, non-lease components
are accounted for as operating expenses and are recognised in profit or loss as they ane incurred.

H Indefeasible right of use {IRU) arrangements

The Group enters into long-term service contracts under which it purchases capacity from fibre networks.
The purchase involves making prepayments fo acquire indefeasible right of use (IRU) for a fixed period
oftime, The prepayment is amortised and recognised in the profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
life of the contract

The Group applies the principles of IFRS16, leases in order to assess whether its IRU arrangements
constitiste or contain leases. The requirements to be met in order to conclude that an IRU arrangement
constitutes ar contains a lease are as follows:

«  the provision of a servica in terms of the IRU arrangement shauld be dependent on the use of ana
aor more specific assets; and
= the IELI arrangement must convey a right o use these assals,
The Group applies its principal accounting policies for leases to account for IRU arrangements which
constiute or conlain leases. All cther IRU arangements that do not constilute or contain leases are
treated as senvice level agreements; the costs are expensed as incurmed,

I Inventories

Inventory mainly comprises ilems of handsets, SIM cards and accesscries held for sale and consumable
tems. Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventory is
determined using the weighted average method. Cost comprises direct materials and, where applicable,
overheads that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition,
excleding borrowing cests. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less applicable variable selling expenses. Whare appropriate, an impairment
provision is raised in respect of obsolete and defective inventories.

J Receivables

Trade recefvables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or services performed in the ordinary
course of business, They are generally due for settlement within 30 to 270 days and therefore are all
classified as cument Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of consideration that is
uncondibional unkess they contain significant financing components, when they are recognised at fair
value. The Group hoids the trade receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and
therefore measures them subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method less loss
aliowance. Detaiis about the Group's impairment polies and the calculation of the loss allowance are
provided in note 3
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K Income tax expense |y pues wanda Limited

The tax expense for the year comprises cumrent income tax, deferred income tax. Tax is recognised
in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to ilems recognised in other comprehensive
income or fterns recognised direclly in equily. For these items the tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. respectively.

Cument income fax

Current income tax is the expected tax payable on taxable incorme for the year, using tax rates enacled
or substantively enacted at the reporting date in the countries where the Group cperates and generate
taxable income, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. Directors penicdically
evaluales positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are
subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriaie on the basis of amounts expected
to be paid to the tax authorities.

Defarad income fax

Deferred incoma tax is recognised using the liability method, providing for temporary differencas arising
babween the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements for
financial reporting purposes. Deferred income tax is not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from goodwill or from the initial recognition of an asset or Bability in a transaction (other than a business
combination) that at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting nor taxable profit nor loss,
Defarred income tax is measured at tax rates (and laws) that have been enacled or substantively enacted
at the reporting date and are expected to apply to lemporary differences when they reverse,

L Borrowings

Borrowings are accoun‘ed for as financial liabibtes. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs and capitalised to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down. When the draw down is made, the transaction costs are amortised to profit
or lass uzing the effective interest method. To the extent that # is not probable thaet some or all of the
facility will be drawn down, the fee is capilalised as a prepayment for liquidity services and amontised
over the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction cests incurred. Bomowings are
subsequently carried at amortised cost any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs)
and the redemption vaive is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the
effective interest method

M Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes
cash on hand, depasits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid invesiments
with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts, Bank overdrafis
are shown within borrowings in current liabilities in the balance sheet.
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A pravision is recognised when there is a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past
event for which it is mora likely than not that an outflow of rescurces will be required to settle the obligation
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the cbligation. Provisions are not recognised for
future operating lossas,

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in
seltiement is determined by considering the class of cbiigations as a whole. A provision Is recognised
even if ihe likethood of an cutflow with respect to any one item Included in the same class of obligations
may be small.

Frovisions are measured al the present value of the expected outflow of resources required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects curment market assessments of the ime value of money and
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to the passage of lime 5 recognised
as a finance cost

Bonus provision

The bonus provision consists of a performance-based bonus, which is determined by reference to the
overall company performance with regard to a set of predetermined key performance measures.
Bonusas are payable annually after the Group annual results have been approved.

Regulatory and fiscal provisions

The Group is invalved in various regulatory and other matters specific 1o the Group's cperations.
Thesa matters may not necessarily be resolved in a manner that is favourable to the Group. The
Group has therefore recognised provisions in respect of these matiers based on estimates and the
probability of whether an autflow of economic benefits will be required.

0 Dividends

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a Bability in the Company's
financial statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Company's directors.
Proposed dividends are shown as a separate component of equity until declared,

P Trade payables

Trade payables are accounted for as financial liabilities. Payables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary
course of business from suppliers.

Other payables are stated at their nominal values.

Q Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental external costs directly attributable to the issue
of new ordinary sharas or share options are recognised in equity as a deduction net of tax from the
procesads,
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R Finance income and costs g1

Finance income
Finance income comprises interast income on funds invested for the shart term and gains on foreign
exchange transactions. Interest income is recognised as it accrues in profil or loss, using the effective
interast method.

Finance cosis

Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings, interest in respect of lease liabilities, losses
on foreign exchange transactions and unwinding of the discount on provisions. All borrowing costs
are recognised in profit or lass using the effective interest method, unless the borrowing costs are
directly atiributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, in which case
the directly atiributable berrowing costs are capitalisad.

S Contingent liabilities

Contingent [abilities represent possible obligations that arise from past events and whose existence
will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of uncertain future events not wholly within
the control of the Group. Conlingant Eabilities also represent present obligations that arise from past
events but are not recognised because an outflow of resources is not probable or a reliable estimate
cannot ba made. The Group does not recognise confingent liabilities in the statement of financial
position until future events indicate that it is probable that an outflow of resources will take place and
a raliable estimate can be made, at which time a provision is raised.

T Related party transactions

Related party transactions constitute the fransfer of resources, services or obligations between the
Group and a party retated to the Group, regardiess of whether a price is charged. For the purpeses of
defining related party transactions with key management, key management has been defined as
directors and the Group’s executive commitiee and includas close members of their families and
entities controllad or jointly controlled by thesa individuals.

U Employee benefits
(i} Short-term employee benefits
Remuneration to employees in respect of services rendered during a reporting period is expansed in
that reporting period. A liability s recognised for accumulated leave when there is a present legal or
consiructive obligation as a result of past service rendered by employeas.
(i) Share-based payment transactions
MTN Group, the Company's ultimate holding company, operates two staff share incentive schemes,
the MTN Group Parformance Share Plan and the MTN Group Share Appreciation Rights scheme
which applies to MTN Rwandaceil Plc as a subsidiary of the Group.
These schemes are accounted for as cash zettled share based paymenis to employees at subsidiany

level, Cash settled share-based payments are measured at fair value (excluding the effect of no-
market-based vesting conditions) at valuation date which s each financial year end.
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(iii) Retirement benefit obligations

The Group operates a defined contribution plan. A defined contribution plan is a post-employment
benefit plan (such as a pension plan) under which the Group pays a fixed percentage of employees’
remuneration as contributions into a separale entity (a fund), and will have no further legal or
constructive obligations to pay additional contributions if the fund does nat hold sufficiant assets to
pay all employee benefits relating to employea service in the current and prior periods. Contributions
to defined conlribution plans in respect of services rendered during a period are recognised as an
employee benefit expense when they are due.

The Group established a defined contribution plan to which employees contribute 40% of the
premiums and the employer contributes the remaining 50%.

{iv}) Termination benefils

Termination benefits may be payable when an employee's employment is terminated before the normal
reirement date due to retrenchment or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in
exchange for these benefits,

The Group recognises termination benefits at the earlier of the following dates:

» when the Group can na longer withdraw the offer of those benefits; and

* when the Group recognises costs for a restructuring that is within the scope of IAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets that includes the payment of terminaticn benefits.

In the case of an offer made o encourage voluntary redundancy, the termination benefits are measured
based on the number of employees expected to accept the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12
manths after the reporting date are discounted to their present value.
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Financial instruments

Financial instruments comprise trade and cther receivables (excluding prepayments), deposits with
financial institutions, cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, bormrowings, other non-current
liabilities {excluding provisions), bank overdrafts, and trade and cther payables.

Accounting for financial instruments

Financial Instruments are accounted for under IFRS 9 on the recognition, classification and
measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities, derecognition of financial instruments,
impairment of financial assets and hedge accounting,

Financial assets and liabifiies are recognised on the Group's statement of financial position when
the Group becomes a party 1o the contractual provisions of the instrument.

All financial assets and lizbilities are initially measured at fair value, including transaction costs
except for those classified as at fair value through profit or loss which are initially measured at fair
value, excluding transaction costs. Transaclion costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

Financial assets and liabilities are classified as current if expected to be realised or settied within 12
manths; if not, they are classified as non-current,

Offseffing financial instruments

Offsetting of financial assets and fiabilities arises when there is a legally enforceabls right to offset
the recognised amounts and there is an intention 1o seltle on a net basis or realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously. The net amaunt is reported in the statement of financial position,
Financial insfrument classification

The Group classifies its financial instruments into the following categories:
= Financial assets at amortised cost and
= Financial iabilities at amortised cost.

The Group classifies its financial assets as at amortised cost only if both of the following criteria are
mat:

= the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows,

and
» the confractual terms give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
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V  Financial instruments (continued)

Categones of financial instrumenis for Group and Company

2021
Current financial assets
rade and other

receivables

Mobile money deposits

Deposits with financial
fions

Cash and cash

equivalents

Mon-current financial
liabilities

Bormowings
Lease [abilties

Currant financial
liabilities

Trade and other payables
Lease abilhes

Mobile money payables
Barrowings

Owverdraft

Sharehokler loan

2020

Current financial assets

Trade and other

iy —
maney

Cash and cash

equivalents

Deposits with financial

in fions

Hon-current financial
liabilities

Bormmowings

Lease liabilities

Current financial

es
Trade and other payables
Lease liabilities
Mobile money payables
Borrowings

Shareholder loans

Assets (Rwf'000) Liabilities (Rwi"000)
Amorised FVTPL FVOCI | Amortised FVTPL | Tatal carrying
cost cost amounts
26457 080 - - = Z 26,467,080
86,769,068 - - - - 868,760,068
10,220,458 - - - - 10,220,458
12,185,937 - - - - 12,185,937
135,642 543 - - - = 135,642 543
- - - B83,36T 212 - 83,367,212
- - - | 66,380,689 - 66,380,689
- = -| 53,009,146 - 53,009,146
- - - 28,618,810 - 28,618,810
= - -| 86,769,068 - 86,769,068
- 7,273,625 - 7.273.625
6577818 - 6,577,919
915,000 - 815,000
- - - | 332,911,569 - 332,911,569
40,138,487 - - - - 40,136,497
66,2685 878 - - - - BB, 269 870
25,853,081 - - 25,853,881
3842 250 - - - - 3.642,250
135,802 607 - - - - 135,902 507
- -| 23999135 - 23,999,135
. - | 66,380,680 - 66,380,689
- o4, 504 112 34, 504 112
- 22 167,004 - 22,167,004
- - -| 66269879 - 66,268,879
: 3 x 5,021,585 - 5,021,585
- - - <, B60, 000 - 3,660,000
i - .| 131,622 580 - 131,622,580
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V  Financial instruments {continued)
The classfication is dependent on the purpose for which the financial instrumeants were acquired,
Managemen! determines the classification of financial instruments at initial recognition.
Subsequen! measurement
Subsequent Lo initial recognition, financial instruments are measured as described below,
Financial asseis
Financial assets are subsequenily measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method,
less any impairment losses.
Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for shor-term receivables
when the recognition of interest would be immataerial.
Financial iahifities
All financial labdities are subsequently measured al amortised cost using the effective interest mathod
De-recognition
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights (o receive cash flows from the asset have expired
or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of
ownership. Financial liabiliies are derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.
impairment of financial assels
The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit lbss associated with lis dabt
instrurments carried at amortised cost. The impairment methodology applied depands on whather there
has been a significant increase in credit risk
The Group's trade and other receivables are subject to the expected credit loss model. While cash
and cash equivalenls are also subject to the impairment requirements of IFRS 9, the identified
impairment loss is immaterial, See note 3 for further details.

W Shareholder loan

Sharehclder loans are equity loans and are accounted for as financial liabilities. The loans recognised
initially al fair value, net of transaction costs incurred and subsequently caried at amortised cost
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Comparatives

Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation in
the current year.

Mobile Money (MoMo) deposits and payables

Mobile meney (“MoMo") deposits indicated on the statement of financial position as restricled cash
are balances that are held with banks for and on behalf of MoMo cusiomers. MoMo regulations
require that these balances with banks are held in a manner to ensure that these balances are not
co-mingled with the Group’s cash and cash equivalents and that these are ring-fenced to settie
Moo customers' obligations. These regulations specify the types of permissible liquid instruments
that these deposils may be invested in,

The Group eams iransactional fees and also eams interest on these MoMo balances. The interest
earned is not considered & revenue of MTN and is thus not co-mingled with the Group's cash and
cash eguivalent and is accounted for as part of the MoMo deposits and payable. Transactional fees
are however parl of revenue. Transactional fees are recognised over time a3 the fransactions oocur
The Group accounts for fees paid to agents as 8 commission expensa and interast paid to
customers in operaling expenses.

Cash flows thal relate lo interest recaived, transaction fees earmed and operating expenses incurred
are classifed as operational cash flows. Cash fiows that refate to the principal MoMa deposit
balances and comresponding liabilities are reflective of customer transactions and. consequently, are
nol recorded on the company's statement of cash flows.

Moho imvolves the issuing of elecironic money in return for cash. MolMao enables an actve mobile

phone subscriber 1o load a Moo wallet, with a balance which is recorded alectronically for
immediate or later use.

The Group utilises MoMo agents to facilitate customer activities i.e. depositing cash and loading and
storing the mobile money in wallets. The Group also performs the activibes of a MoMo agent through
its branches. Any monatary value stored on a Maolo wallat is supported by an equivalent mobile
maney deposit held with a bank or multipbe banks.

The Group provides (under licence) the platform to administer the MoMo wallet and the Molo
service generally, The company opens bank accounts in which the mobile money deposits and
interest earned on the cash balances is held.

Moo is a regulated service offering. MoMeo regulations govern the manner in which mobile money
services are conducted as well as the rights and obligations of all parties to the mobile money
senvice offering.

Earnings per share

Basic and diluted eamings per share (EPS) data for ordinary shares are presented in the financial

statements. Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss atiributable to ordinary shareholders

of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares cutstanding during the period.

Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss atiributable to ordinary shareholders and the

:ha’eghladrmue number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential crdinary
ares, if any.
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Financial risk management

The Group has exposure to the fallowing risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk. liquidity
risk and market risk (foreign exchange and interest rate risk). This note presents information about the
Group's exposure to each of the above risks, the Group's oblectives, policles and processes for
measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s management of capital Further quarntitative
disclosures are included throughout these financial statemants.

Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk
The Group operates locally and is exposad to foreign exchange risk arising from vanous currency

exposures, primarily with respect to the US dollar. Foreign exchange risk arises from recognised
assats and liabikties.

The Group aims fo manage exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates by keeping a
proportion of its cash balance In forelgn currency. As a policy, the Group does not utilise forward
contracts or other methods of hedging foreign exchange risk that are speculative in nature.

Included in tha Group statement of financial position are the following amounts dencminated in
currencies other than the funclional currency of the reporting entity

2021 2020
Rwi'000 Rwi000
Current assats
Us Dollar 3,783,803 7,137,700
3,783,503 7,437,700
Current liabilities
Us Dollar 4,070,453 8,613,464

4070453 9,613,484

The Group has used a sensitivity analysis technique that measures the estimated change to profit or
loss and equity of an instantaneous 5% strenglthening or weakening in the Rwandan Francs against
all other currencies, from lhe rate applicable at 31 December, for each class of financlal instrument
with all other variables, in particular interest rates, remaining constant. This analysis is for illustrative
purposes only, as in practice, market rales rarely change in isolation.

The Group i mainly exposed fo Nuctuations in foreign exchange rates in respect of the US Dollar.
This analysis considers the impact of changes in foreign exchange rates on profit
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(i} Foraign exchange risk {confinued)

A change in the foreign exchange rates 1o which the Group and Company are exposed at the reparting
date would have increased/{decreased) profit before tax by the amounts shown below,

2021 2020
Increased{decrease) in profit before tax (Decrease)/increase in profit before tax
Weakening Weakening

Change in  Strengthening Change in  Strengthening
in functional in in  functional in functional
exchan currency functional exchange currency currency
ge rate Rwf “000" CuUrrency rate Rwf ‘000" Rwf '‘000°

v Fwf 000" %
s 5 {14,248} 14,248 4 (99,031) 88,031

doilar

(ii) Interest rate risk

The Group manages its interest rate risk by having a balanced portfolio of fixed and variable rate lcans
and berrowings. In the current year there has been no change to the Group's exposure 1o market risks
or the manner in which these risks are managed and measurad as pravious years,

Interest rate risk is the risk bome by an interest-bearing asset er liabdity, due to variability of interest
rates.

During 2021, the Group's fixed rate borrowings and recelvables were carried at amorized cost. They
are therefore not subject to interest rate risk as defined in IFRS 7, since neither the camying amount
nor the future cash flows will fluctuate because of a change in market interest rates.
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Financial risk management {continuead)

(iii) Credit risk | Fa
e P . j
Credit risk is managed on a Group basis. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, and
deposits with banks, as well as trade and other receivables. The Group does not have any
significant concentrations of credit risk. The Group credit controller assesses the credit quality of
each customer. taking into account its financial position, past experience and other factors,
Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in accordance with limits sat by
the Board. The ulilisation of credit limits is regularly monitored.

' yoranela Limied

With the exception of post-paid and dealer trade receivables, no collateral is held for any of the
above assets. Some post-paid subscribers are required to pay a security deposit before being
connected onto the Group's network. Dealer debtors are also required to present post-dated
cheques and bank guarantees before being granted credit The Group does not grade the credit
quality of receivables,

The amount that best represents the Group's and Company's maximum exposure to cradit risk
at 31 December is made up as follows:

Group Company

2021 2021 2020

Rwi"000 Rwf'000 Rwi"000

Deposits with financial institutions (note 18) 10,220,458 10,220,458 3,642,250
Cash and cash equivalents (note 17{a)) 12,185,937 11,485,937 22211,
Trade and cther receivables - gross (note 22) 26,158,159 28,158,159 31,902,632
Restricted cash (note 17(b}) 85,769,068 - 66,269,879
Recewables from relaled parties (nole 31) 2630818 2,630,816 5,834,434

137,064,438 50,495,370 129,860,976

Impairnent of financial assels af amoriised cost

Expected credit loss on receivables from related companies is immaterial. Expected credit loss on
cash and cash equivalent amounted to Rwf 22 million.

Trade receivables

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses
a lifetime expected loss allowance for all frade receivables. To measure the expacted credit losses,
trade receivables have been analysed based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days

past due.

The expected loss rates are based on the payment profies of sales over a period of 36 months
before 31 December 2021 respectively and the corresponding historical credit lpsses experienced
within this period. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect forward looking information to
the extent that there is a strong correlation between the forward-looking information and the
expected credit losses. The Group has identified the GDP of the country in which it sefls its goods
and services fo be the most relevant factors, and accordingly adjusts the historical loss rates based
on expected changes in these factors.,
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Motes [continued)
3 Financial risk management {continued)
{iii) Credit risk {continued)

Trade receivables (continued)

S
y
i e
|

&)

=3

TTE

oL MY
L) 2027 _

¢ Pop o

»
CAL BOLuRieyT
.

el frwib el

The default rates as at 31 December 2021 were determined as follows for trade receivables:

The loss rate is applied after adjusting for subsequent receipts

More than  Government
More than 60 days debtors less tm"“; G"“;:;““‘
Default rate Current 30 days  pastdue than 90 days :“' nw:’;
t due but less 5 due
s than 90 L~ past due days
31 December 2021 3.40% 5.80% 8% 1.48% 100%% 1009
31 December 2020 B8.30% 10.005%: 13.40% O 453% 1005 100%

The loss allowance as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 was delermined 35 follows for trade

recelvablas:
More Mare More
3 December than 30 than &0 than 90 Government
2021 Current days days days debtors Total
pastdue pastdue past due
Eross carmying
amount = trade and
other receivables
[ Rwe "O00) 21,528,134 779,466 275812 2023715 1,557,032 26,158.159
Loss allowance
(Rw! '000) 642 443 195@5? 21,825 TB3 654 GFE. 746 2,321,895
Moaore
31 December Ware than. . onen Morethan o ment
2020 Current 30 days days 90 days dabitors Total
past due past due past dua
Gross carrying
amount = frade
receivables and
olher receivable
(Rw 000} 15,393,067 3483600 309847 11,738212 990,838 31,915,571
Loss allowance
(RwiQ00) 133,030 59,880 22,279 2,184 38T 341,622 2,?99,252

Trade and other receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery

Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst athers, the failure of
a deblor 1o engage in a repayment plan with the Group, and a fallure to make contractual payments
for a period of greater than 80 days past due.

impairment losses on trade and other receivables are presemed as net impairment losses within
operaling profit Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the

same line iem,
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3 Financial risk management (continued)
Depasits with financial institulions, cash at bank, resincled cazh

Deposits with financial institubions. cash at bank and resiricied cash are considered to have low credit
risk, and the loss allowance recognised during the peniod was therefore limited to 12 months” expected
losses, Management consider ‘low credit risk’ for these financial assets as they have a low risk of
default and the issuer has a strong capacity to meet its confractual cash flow obligations in the near
term, The loss rate assigned to these has been determined to be 0.17% which is the probability of
default assigned to a B+ invesiment grade by Standard & Poors rating agency.

Application of expected credit loss on receivables from related companies is immaterial. Expected
credit loss on cash and cash equivalent amounted to Rwf 22 million. Mo ECL on restricted cash since
its fully collateralised.

(iv} Fair value

The Group adopted the ameandment to IFRS 7 for financial instruments that are measured at fair
value. This requires disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the foliowing fair value
measurement hierarchy.

Quoted prices {unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1),
Inputs olher than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or
ability, either directly (that iz, as prices) or indirecily (that is, derived from prices) (Level 2)

s Inputs for the asset or lability that are not based on observable market data (that is,
unobservable inputs) (Lewel 3).

The Group had no financial instruments at fair valoe as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December
2020. As such, there were no movemeants between levels in 2021 and 2020

(v) Liuidty risk

Prudent liquidity rsk management includes maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, and
the availability of funding from an adequate amount of committed credit facifties. Due to the dynamic
nature of the underlying businesses, Treasury maintains flexibility in funding by maintaining availability
under committed credit lines.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Grouwp's lquidity reserve on the basis of expacted cash
Thorw.

The lable below analyses the Group's financial liabilities that will be s=ttied on a net basis into relevant
maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity
date. The amounts disclosed in the table below are the contracteal undiscounted cash ows. Balances

due within 12 months equal their carrying balances, as the impact of discounting Is not significant.
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Financial risk management {continued) 3 14 Li
(v} Liquidity risk (confinued)
Less than1  Between 1 Between 2 More than § Total
year and 2years and 5 years years
Rwi'000 Rwi"000 Rwi"000 Ruerf"000
At 31 December 2021:
- Borrowings 23, 792282 20120004 58,383,144 27,706,667 130,002,106
- Bank overdraft 6,577,918 - - - 6.577 9159
- Sharaholder loan 815,000 - - 815,000
= Lease liabilities 24202543 23,853,094 122620778 - 170676415
- Trade and other payables 59,733,508 - - - BB.733 598
- Mobile money payables 86,769.068 - - - B5.769,063
_201,880,420 52,973,088 181,003,822 27,706,667 463,674,106
At 31 December 2020:
- Borrowings 10,348,424 17,595,063 13,901,184 = 41844671
- Lease Habilitias 19,176,334 18328413 57440628 1,637,196 97582571
- Trade and other payables 31,915,514 - - = 31815514
- Mobile money payables 66,312,573 - - - BB6312573
127,752,845 36923476 71,341,812 1,637,196 2376557329
{vi) Financial instruments by category
2021 2020
Rwf"000 Rwi"000
Financial assets at amortised cost
Trade and other receivables (note 22) 23 835,764 20,103,371
Deposits with financial institutions (note 18) 10,220,458 3,642 250
Cash and cash equivalents (note 17) 12,185,937 22211, 731
Restricted cash (note 17) BG,769,068 56,289 870
Receivables from related parties (note 31) 2630,816 5,834,484
135,642,543 127,061,715
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Bomowings {note 15) 98,133,755 29,020,720
Trade and other payables (note 23) 60,261,385 34,504,112
Shareholder loan 815,000 =
Overdraft 68,677,918 -
Dbligations under finance leases 84 599,589 B8, 547 652
Mchile money payables BE, 769,068 66,264,878
347,656,736 218,342,404

{vii} Capital risk management

Capital ncludes borrowings, share capital and equity alfributable to the equity holders of the

Compariy.

The primary objectiva of the Group's capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit
rating and healthy capital ratios to support its business and maximise shareholder value. To maintain
or adjust the capital structura, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return

capital to shareholders or issue new shares,

40



MTN Rwandacell Plc
Consalidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

MNotes (continued)

3

Financial risk management {continued)
{vii} Capital risk managernent (cominued)

Where funding is not available to the operation locally or in specific circumstances where it is more
efficient to do so, funding is sourced centrally and on-lent by the MTN Group. The Group’s policy is
to borrow using @ mixture of long term and short-term capital market issues and borrowing facilites
from the local and international capital markets as well as multi-lateral organisations together with
cash generated to meet anlicipated funding requirements.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis of the target gearing
ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by lotal capital Net debt is calculated as total
borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as equity plus net debt.

{vi} Financial instruments by categary

The gearing ratios at 31 December 2021 and 2020 were as follows:

2021 2020

Rwf'000 Rwi 000

Lease liability {note 2a) 54,999 599 B8 547,693
Borrowings (note 15) 88,133,755 29,020,720
Total borrowings 183,133,354 117,568,413
Less: cash and cash equivalents (note 17) 12,185,837 (22.211,731
Met debt 180,947 417 85,356,682
Total equity 57,283,901 49 806,953
Total capital 230,748,388 145,163,635
Gearing ratio 78.42% §5.69%
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4 Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

Eslimates and judgements are conlinually evaluated and are based on historical axpenience and
other factors, including experience of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. It is reasonably possible, on the basis of existing knowledge, that outcomes within
the next financial year that are different from the assumption could require a material adjustment to
the: carrying amount of the asset or liability affected

(1} Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

impairment of inancial asseis

The loss allowances for trade and other receivables ara based on assumptions about risk of default
and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the
inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the Group's past history, existing market conditions as
well as forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting period. Details of the key assumplions
and inputs used are disclosed in note 3(iii) above.

Sonsitivily analysis on impairmant of frade receivables

2021
{Decrease)increase in provisions
Upward change in | Downward change
default rate in default rate
Rwel 000’ Rl ‘000
50% change in 1,160,948 1,160,948
_cefault rate
100% change 2321895 2,321,895
in default rate
Lease ferm

In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an
economic incentive to exercise an axtension option, or not exercise a termination option, Extension
oplions (or periods after termination options) are enly included in the lease term If the lease is
reasonably certain to be extended (or not terminated). The company applies judgement in assessing
whether it is reasonably likely that options will be exercised. Factors considered include how far in
the future an oplion occurs, the company's business planning cycle of three to five years and past
history of terminating/nol renewing leases.

The assessment is reviewed if a significant event or a significant change in circumstances occurs
which affects this assessment and that is within the control of the lesses

Far the network leases, management has adopted a further extension of Syears post expiry of the
current [ease contract in 2024, A sensitivity analysis of exercising all extension options in the
contract for a further 20 year period from 2024 would result in an increase in recognised leass
liabilities and right-of-use-assets of Rwf 16,231 million and annual deprecsation for right of uss
reducing from the current Rwf 10,242million to Rwf 4,084 million.
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Critical accounting estimates and judgements {continued)
(i) Critical judgements in applying the Group's accounting policies
Intarconnect revenue recognition

Dug to the receipt of interconnect revenue in certain instances not being certain at transaction date,
the Group has resolved only 10 recognize interconnect revenue relating to these instances as the
cash is received,

Incene laxes

The Group exsrcises significant judgement in determining its provision for income taxes when
dealing with calculations and transactions for which the ultimate tax position is uncertain during the
ardinary course of business. The Group recognizes tax liabilities for anticipated tax issues based on
estimates of whether additional taxes will be payable. Whera the final outcome of these matters is
diffarent fram the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the currant and
defarred tax in the pericd in which such determination is made.

Accounting for Mobiile Money (MoMo) deposits and payables

Limited accounting guldance exists in IFRS relaling to mobile money customers' balances held with

banks. The Group previously recognised MoMo balances based on its assessment of the risks and

rewards relating to the underiying financial asset The Group's exposure to credit risk on the financial

assets held with the various banks was considered a key factor in the overall evaluation as any credit

ﬂHEk assumed potentially exposed the company o refund MoMo customers in the event of any bank
ure.

As a result of this, judgement was made 1o recognise all MoMo llabilities, representing the obligation
which exigts in the ordinary course to refund the customer for deposits made, and the related MoMo
balances held with the banks on the statement of financial position. For further details of the Group's
MoMo policy refer to note 2(Z).

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment represent a significant proportion of the Group's asset basa.
Therefore, the judgements made in determining their estimated useful lives and residual values are
critical to the Group's financial poesition and performance. Useful lives and residual values are
reviewed on an annual basis with the effects of any changes in estimate accounted for on a

prospective basis.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment are based on management estimates and take into
account historical experience with similar assets, the expected usage of the asset, physical wear
and tear, technical or commercial obsolescence and legal restrictions on the use of the assets,

The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are shown under note 20 above.

There were no significant changes in the useful lives and residual values of items of property, plant
and equipment during the current year. B
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(a)

{b)

(c)

{d} Reovenue recognised in respect of contract liabilities

L21e3 {2022

el 1

Revanua f

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods and services in the following major service

and product lines:

Airtirme and subscriplion
Data

[CT

SMS

Interconnect and roaming
Mobile money commissions
Digital

Handseds and accessarias
Short-code fees

Itemised billing

Simecard

Sundry income relates to;
IHS land renta income

Liabilities related to contracts with customers

Ciontract Eabilities - deferred revenpe

2021 2020
Rw D00 RwI"000
81,747,336 72,638,223
32,148,103 27,048,677
7622626 6,741,034
4,249,302 3,642,178
5,853,977 5,502,156
50,533,609 30,591,407
1,453,756 1,601,886
2,697,037 2,336,965
4,308 7,087
3020 47,748
534,309 620,048
186,883,922  150,787.399
1.242.830 1,225,644
1,242,830 1,225 644
2021 2020
RwT'000 RwT'000
3,117,051 2,615,113

Deferred revenus represents unused activated airtime subscnber balances for prepaid products.

Contract abilites increased due to an increaze in prepaid sales.

Revenue is recognised in profit or loss account as calls are made using the unused activated

airtinne.

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in the current reporting period

relates to carred-lonsard conlract liabilities,

Revenue recognised that was included in deferred revenue at

start of year

2021
Rwf 000

281513

2020
Rwf' 000

3,017,020
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& Employee benefits expenses 2021 2020
Rwi"000 Rwi000
Salaries and wages 8,232,908 7,548,533
Share oplion granted to directors and employees 3,385,085 57,000
Pension fund conlributions 280,603 258,560
Rwanda Social Security Board contributions 423,244 383,655
Medical 364,565 263,253
Bonus provision 1,298,999 1,827,585
Other 2,141,303 1887 837
16,137,717 12,426,423
Cperating profit
The following disclosable items have been included in arriving at operating
profit:
2021 2020
Rwf"000 Rwi000
Diraciors’ amolumeants
- Directors' fees 60,426 30,652
Employee benefits expense (nole 8) 16,137,717 12,426,423
FProfit on disposal of property, plant and equipment + ¥
Expected credit loss on frade receivables (note 22) 187,852 1,048,383
Expected credit loss on cash at bank {note 17) - =
Expecied credit loss on deposits held in financial institutions
(rote 18) - -
Bad debt write-off . 3
Irvaniones axpansed 2,788,333 3,184 204
Write down / write (back) of Inventorias 11,152 11,319
Management fees paid to related parties (Nole 31) 8,263,242 7,758,472
Auditors’ remunerabion
- Audit fees 211,118 237,885
- Fees for other services 18,000 28700
- Expenses 14,972 18,410
Licence fees 5,910,888 4,984,795
Dealers’ commissions 4,200,320 5,197,445
Advertizing, promotions and sponscrships 2,333,083 1,968, 519
Distribution costs 532,635 610,945
Litilities 1,092 766 771,752
Fees paid for professional and consulling services 3075378 #£.271.258
Depreciation (note 20) 19,509,258 14 962 683
Deprecialion-right of use asset (note 20) 11,534, 323 11,264,385
Amortisation (nate 18) 4,561,264 35,859
Tax penalties - 140 275
80,931,081 66,965,489
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8 Finance incomel (costs) 2021 2020
Rwi 000 Rwi" 000
Finance costs:
Interest expense and ather charges on bormowings (8,402,743) (5,160.860)
Finance costs on leases (13,240 598) (11,511,726)
Realised foreign exchange losses (206,465) (151,831)
Unrealised foreign exchange losses (635,8942) (473,685)
22 T46 (17,298,102)
Finance incomsa:
Interest income from banks 800,548 T1B 118
Realised foreign exchange gains 503 585 58377
Unrealised foreign exchange gains 197,450 342 249
1,901,591 1,118,744
2021 2020
8 Income fax expense Rwi'000 Rwf 000
Current income tax 10,332,851 10,775,293
Deferred income tax charge fcredit) (nole 14) 757,493 1.607,165
11,090,344 12,382,459

The tax on the Group’s and the Company's profit before income tax differs from the theoretical
amount that would arise using the statutony Income tax rate as follows:

2021 T 2020 o
Rwf 000 Rwf000
Profit before income tax 33,513 957 32608231
Statutory tax rate 0% 30%
Tax at standard rate 10,054,187 ao 8782768 30
Tax effects of;
Income not subject o tax
- Expenses not deductible for tax purposes:
Management fees recharge 1,408,268 1,085,632
Other expenses 462 757 1,830,150
- Under provigion in prior years deferred tax {B32,868) (326,082)
Total income tax expense 11,080,344 12,382,459
Effective tax rate 33.1 37T
Income tax paid is as follows:
2021 2020
w000 Rwi" 000
Al beginning of the year 3,534 936 3Nz
Income tax charge for the year {11,090,344) {12,382 459)
Deferred income tax credit 76T 493 1,607, 165
Withholding tax (138,742} {2,188 353)
At the end of the year 22,838 563 3,534,036
Total tax paid (16,002,906) (6,315,472)
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10 Dividends w21 2020
Dividend Dividend

per share Total pershare Total

Rwi*000 Rwi'000  Rwf000 Rwf'000

Dividends declarad 7.55 10,200,000 4633 6,950,000

Payment of dividends is subject to withholding tax at a rate of either 10% or 12% depending on the
residence of the respeciive shareholders.

11 Share capital MNumber of Qrdinary
shares share capital
ooo Rwf"000
Authorised:
Ordinary shares each with a par value of Rwf 1 1,350,886.6 1,350,886.6
Issued and Tully paid:

1,500 ordinary shares each with a par value of Rwd 10,000

at 1 January 2020, 31 December 2020, and 1,350,885.600

ordinary shares each with @ par value of Rwf 1 and 31

December 2021 1,350.886,600 1,350,886,600

el e R

During the year and as part of the listing to the Rwanda Stock Exchange on 4 May 2021, the

stated share capital of the Company increased from Rwf15,000,000 to Rwf 1,350,886,600 divided

into 1,350,886,600 shares of Rwf 1 each. The new shares allotted fo the axisting sharehoiders of

mtjmaw in proportion 1o their existing sharehoiding in the Company without corresponding
resources,

12  Shareholder loans

2021 2020

Rwf000 Rwi”000

Crystal Telecom Limited - 732,000
MTH International (Mauritius) Limited - 2013000
MTN REL Limited - 815,000
A 3,660,000

The loans do not have fixed repayment terms and are repayable only at the option of the
Company. During the board meeting held on 2 March 2021, the Board approved the repayment of
all shareholder loans The Loans wera reclassed from Equity to current liabilities and since then
Crystal Telecom Limited and MTHN International Mauritivs have bean paid by 31 December

2021, The outstanding due to MTN REL of Rwf 815m is due to be paid by end of Q1 2022

13 Other reserves

2021 2020
Rwi000 Rl 000
Balance at beginning and at end of year 1,500 1.500

Im 2008, Law Mo, 772003 relating 1o companies replaced the Law Goveming Commercial
Enterprizes in Ewanda. The Law Governing Commercial Enterprizes in Rwanda required
companies to transfer 5% of their profit after tax to a statulory reserve. Under the law, the
obligation ceased when the enterprise’s reserves wena aguivalent to 10% of its share capital. This
reserve is not distributable.
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14

Deferred income tax

Because of the uncertainty in estimating the extent to which the Group's deferred income tax assets
and liabilittes will crystaliise within 12 months from the year end, the Group's entire net deferred
income tax [iabiity has been classified as a non-current liability.

Delerred income tax is calculated using the enactad income tax rate of 30% (2020: 30%). The

rmiovemant on the deferred income tax account is as follows:

Al start of year
Charge/(credit) to profit or loss

At end of year

2021 2020

Rwf' 000 Rwi'000
14,158,020 12,551,855
757,493 1,607,165
14,916,513 14,159,020

Delerred income lax assets and labilities and the deferred income tax charge in profit of loss are

attributable to the following items:

Year ended 31 December 2021

Deferred income tax liabilities:
Accelerated tax depreciation

Deferred income tax assets:
Provisins

Net deferred income tax liability

Year ended 31 December 2020

Deferred income tax labilities:
Accelerated tax depreciation

Deferred income tax assels:
Provisions

MNet deferred income tax liability

1 January Charge/ (credit) 31 December
2024 to profit or loss 2021
Rwf'000 Rw ' 000 Rwi000
15,558,208 2017715 17,673,823
(1,387,188) (1,260,222 (2,657 410)
14,153,020 757,493 14,816,513
1 January Chargel (credit) 31 December
2020 to profit or loss 2020
Rwi000 Rwi000 Rwf'000
13,891,589 1,664,619 15,556 208
(1,339.734) (57.454) {1,397 188)
12,551,855 1,607,165 14,159,020

48



MTH Rwandacell Ple
Consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Motes [continued)

15 Borrowings % ==
CECTTEN TR GOy

Non-current bank loans ' oA
i) Syndicate I ... 4N .

- Tranche A BT ) 3 127D L2

-Tranche B -

i) Syndicate I phe Pag

Current bank loans
i} Syndicale I

- Tranche A

~Tranche B

iy Syndicabe Il
i} Bank owerdraft
iv) Sharehalder loan

Capitalised transaction costs
Total borrowings

The movement in borrowings is as follows:

At start of year

Apency fees

Interest expense

Amartisation of transaction costs
Principal repayments

Interest repayments

New loan facility (syndicate Ii)
Bank overdraft

Shareholder lan

At end of year

i} 2018 syndicate loan

2020 2019
Rwf000 Rwf"000
19,367,212 23,990,135
64,000,000 -
6,114,500 5,450,825
2,220,287 -
6,577.918 .
815,000 :
99,104,918 29,440,860
_(1,061,163) _ (429,240)
98,133,755 29,020,720
29,020,720 34,954,706
(761,708) -
8,274,666 4,947,658
128,077 E7,303
(5.823,333)  (5,932,138)
(4,197,588)  (5.046,819)
64,000,000 :
8,577,918 :
915,000 :
98,133,755 29,020,720

The Group obtained a syndicated loan of Rwf 50bn split info two franches;

i} Tranch A of Rwf 35bn had been fully drawn down and the outstanding balance as at 31
December 2021 is Rwf 23 billion. The loan attracts interest of 15% and final payment is
expected by Movember 2025. It is repayable in 12 semi-annual instalments. following an
18 menths grace pericd which commenced on signing date. The first draw down date

was December 2018,

i} The Tranche B of Rwi 15 billion has not been drawn down and is available for draw down

o finance working capital.

Interest on the tranche A-and B loan is based on a base rate; being the BNR discount rate,
which was 9.5% agreed at the contractual date plus a marginal rate of 5.5% per annum,

The loan is a secured by a negative pledge over all existing and future assets of the Company.
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15 Borrowings (continued)
i) 2018 syndicate loan (continued)

The curmency, interest ratas, and oulstanding principal as at 31 December 2021 under each
participating bank are as follows:

Bank Currency Interest rate 2021 2020
p.a Rwi000 Rwi'000
Bank Populaire du Rwanda Plc Rwf 15% 3,320,000 4,150,000
COGEBANQUE Plc Rwi 15% 3,000,000 3,750,000
Bank of Kigali Pic Rwd 15%  3,333.333 4,186,665
Equity Bank Rwanda Pl Rwf 15% 2,656,000 3,320,000
KCB Bank Rwanda Pic Rwd 15% 2,666,656 3,333,333
Ecobank Rwanda Pilc Rt 15% 4,333,233 5,367 B61
I&M Bank Rwanda Pie Rwi 15% 3,084,000 4,980,000

23,293,332 29,057,860

i) 2021 Syndicate loan

The Company cbtained a second syndicaled loan of Rwf 84 billion as contractually agreed upon on
27 July 2021 to facilitate the payment of the GSM licence. The loan had been fully drawn down as at
31 Decemnber 2021,

Interest on the loan is based on a base rate; being the BNR discount rate, which was 9.5% agreed at
the contractual date plus a8 marginal rate of 5.5% per annum.

The first principal instalment was paid on 28 January 2022 after a six-month maratorium. The final
repayment is due in 28 July 2028

The loan is a secured by a negative pledge over all existing and future assets of the Company.
The currency, interest rates and oulstanding principal as at 31 December 2021 under each

participating bank are as follows.

2021

Bank Currency  Interest rate p.a Rwi"000
Banque Populaire du Rwanda PLC Rwf 15%  5.500,000
ECOBANK Rwanda Pic Rt 1556 5,500,000
COGEBANQUE Plc Rwf 159 4,000,000
Bank of Kigali Ple Rt 15% 15,000,000
1&M Bank {Rwanda) Plc Rwf 15% 7,000,000
Equity Bank Rwanda Plc Rwf 18% 9,000,000
KCB Bank Rwanda Lid Rwf 15% 5,000,000
Guaranty Trust Bank (Rwanda) PLC Rwf 15%  3.500,000
Access Bank Rwanda PLC Rwf 15% 4 500,000
MHCBA Rwanda PLC Rwf 15%% 5,000,000
64,000,000

fii) Short-term borrowing and overdraft

The short-term borrowing relates to the shareholder loan for MTN REL thal was previously sitting in
Equity now reclassed fo current liabilities. Repayment is expected by end of @1 2022 and it's a nan-
interest-bearing facility. The overdraft was a stop gap measure to prefund the Mobile Money
Push/Pull account with Bank of Kigali Pic for a 2 menths period,
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15 Borrowings {continued)

il |

The section below sels out an analysis of net debl and the movements in net debt

Mone of the borrowings was in default at any time during the year. The Group complied with the
financial covenanis of iis borrowing facilities during the reporiing period.

Net Debt to EBITDA
Debt service coverage ratio

Metl Deblf (Equity and shareholdar loans)

Interest coverage ratio

Threshold per Slatus as at Conclusion
lcan covenants 31 December 2021

<2 5% 0.87x Compliant

>1.25% 6.31x Compliant

=730 112 Compliant

=4 5% 10.68x Compliant

As per the loan agreement, The financial ratios do not take the treatment of leases under IFRS 16,
Capitalised transaction costs relate to costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of tha

above borrowing facilities.

The carrying amount of the borrowings approximates 1o their fair values since the interest payable
on the borrowings is close to current market rates. The effective interest rates for the bormowings

were 15% in the period.

The section below sats out an analysis of net debt and the movements in net debt.

Met debt 2021 2020
Rwi"000 Rw 000
Zash and cash equivalents 12.185,937 2221173
Current borrowings {including ocverdrafts) (14,766,544 ) (10.878.975)
Mon-current borrowings (83,367 212) (18,041, 745)
Lease liabilities (94,998 509) (B8, 547 652)
At end of year {180,947 418) {95,356,682)
The section below sets out an analysis of net debt and the movements. in net debt.
Cashl Current Man-currant Laase Total
Net debt reconciliation Overdraft borrowings  borrowings liabilities
Rwf 000 Rwi 000 Rwi000 Rw 000 Rwi" 000
Year ended 31 Dacember
2020
At 1 January 2020 24 362 837 (11,052,875) (23,911,831) (80308613} (90,9104582)
Cash flows (2,141,605) 6,031,290 (87,304) 18,592 605 (4,436,693)
New leaseas 2 - = (26,831,686}
Translation differances {9,501) (9,501}
Net debt at 31 December 2020 22,211,731 (5,021,585) (23,999,135) (88,547,603) (95356,682)
Year ended 31 December
2021
At 1 January 2021 22,211,131 (5,021,585) (23.998,135) (88,547 883} (95,356,682)
Cash flows {9,974,065) (5,744 050) {59,368,077) 22 276,982 (55 895118)
Mew leases - - - {28,72B.BB8) (28 728.EBHE)
Translation differences (51.729) [51,729)
Met debt at 21 Decomber 2021 12185,937 (14,766,544 B3,367,.21 94,999,599) (180,947,418
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16 Indefeasible rights of use assets (IRUs) 2021 2020
Rwi 000 w000
Opening net book amaount 7.858,701 4,754,207
Addition 4,290 265 5,269,934
Amortisation {2,869 3T5) {2,085 440)
Closing net book amount 9,388,591 7,958,701
Current 1,158,018 995, 567
Mon-currant 8,230,572 6,963,134
IRU costs for leased lines are recoverable over a 1-year period.
17(a) Cash and cash equivalents
For purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following:
Group Company
2021 2021 2020
Rwi*000 Rwi'000 Rwi'000
Cash al bank and an hand 12,208,602 11,508,602 22253218
Expected credit loss (22 665) (22,665) (41,487)
12,185,937 11,485,937 22,211,731
17(b) Restricted cash
2021 2020
Rwf'000 Rw 000
Mohile money deposits 88,769,068 BG, 269,878
Expected credit loss - -
86,769,068 66,269,879
The balance is fully covered by kability of equal amount thus ne expect credit loss.
18  Deposits held in financial institutions 2021 2020
Rwi"000 Rwi 000
Deposits held with KCB Rwanda Plc 3,140,460 3,643 707
Deposits hekd 1&M Rwanda Pie 1,079,998 -
Deposits hald with NCBA Bank £,004,088 -
Expected credil loss (4,088) {1,457)
10,220,458 3,642,250
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19 Intangible assets

s Sitia it el O Towl
license o fa ICENSas 'arg
H'I.E'Fﬂtﬂg Rwf 000 Rw 000 w000 Rwf000 Rwf'000
Cost
At hnginnlng of year 445 157 650, 345 1,105,50 445 157 BB0 346 1,105,503
Additions 81,436,329 . 91,&33,;29 = - R
At end of year g1 BR1 485 660 346 92,541 832 445 157 BE0, 346 1,105,503
Accumulated amortisation
Al beginning of 435 709) (660,346) (1,096,055) (398,850) (660,346)  (1.059,196)
1mﬂl!»;lllu:rﬂ Ehgﬁ?; 145531.254} - d,ﬁﬂ'l.tﬂd (38.858) - (16,859)
At end of year {5,016,973) (660.346) (5677,319) (435708) (GE0,348) (1,098 ,055)
Carrying amount
At ﬁ of year BE.B54 513 86,864,513 9,448 8,448
Metwork licenses
Type of icense Date | renewed Licence term
GSM Q1072021 10 years
T SUAINALE -
e
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Motes {confinued)

20{b} Right-of-use assels

COST

At January 2021

Addions

Dizposals

At 31 December 2021
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
At 1 January 2021

Dispozsals

Depreciation charge for the year
At 31 December 2021

CARRYING AMOUNT
At 31 December 2021

At 3 December 2020

Finance lease labilities are disclosed in note 25.

20(c) For cash flow purposes, additions to property and equipment are arrived at as follows:

Additions as above (notes 20 (a), 20 (b))

Finance lease

Accruals for PPE tlems received but not invoiced at start of year

Accruals for PPE items received but not invoiced at end of year

At 31 Decembor

Cellular Motor Offices Total
Mebwork Vehicles and Rwi 000
Equipmant Rwf000  service
Rwd"000 centers
Rwf 000
94 208.038 23542189 3782731 100,334,988
14 245 654 887,531 - 15,143,204
= {1,033.099) - (1,033,099)
108,453,692 2228671 3,762,731 114,445,094
(17,381,887) (1352,889) (1070075) (19.804,851)
- 1,033,009 - 1,033,008
(10,364, 437)  (634,849) (535037)  (11,534,323)
(27,746,323)  (954,638) (1605112) (30,306,075)
80,707,168 1 .1:_?4,&32 2157619 84,128,018
76,826,151 1,011,330 2,692,657 80,530,138
2021 2020
Rwf 000 Rowf™ 000
35,930,045 21,210,431
B.287 646 7,650,208
(5,122 875) {6,287 647)
37,0894 B5E 22,572,992
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Notes (continued)
21 Inventories 2021 2020
Rwf'000 Rw"000
Alrtime cards, sim cards, phones and accessornies 1,558,221 1,170,054
Provision for obsolete stock {51,265] __ (40,113}
4,506,956 1,128,841
Inventories expensed during the year 2,789,322 3,184 204
Movemanis in the provision for obsolete stock
Balance at Balance at
beginning Written off  the end of
of year  Additions during the the
Rwf000 Rwi"000 ear ear
Fr.w;uﬂu Rwi'000
2021
Movemant in provision (40,113) {11,152 - (51, 265)
20230
Movement in provision (28.754) {11,319) 5 {40,713}
22 Trade and other receivables 2021 2020
Rwi 000 Rwi' 000
Trade receivables and other receivable 268158158 31802632
Expected credit losses (2,321 885) (2,789.281)
Trade and other receivables — net 23,836,264 20,103,371
Prepayments 13,271,105 5198 642
Receivables from related parties (note 31) 2,630,816 5,834 484
39,738,185 40,136,497
In the opinion of the directors, the carrying amounts of the raceivables approximate their tair values
due to their short-term nature.

The closing loss allowances for trade receivables and ather receivables as at 31 December 2021

reconcile to the opening loss allowances as set out below,

201 2020

Rwf '000 Rwf ‘000

31 December 2,799,261 2,166,078
Increase in loss aliowance recognised in income statement during

the year 187,852 1,048,383

Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible (B65,118) (415,200)

At 31 December 2,321,895 2,799,261

Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery.
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Notes (continued) M N
22 ] e Jaczy
23(a) Trade and other payables
2021 2020
feemnria L ' Rwf 000 Rwf'000
Trade payables 12,383,897 10,980,461
Intercompany payables (note 31) 5382934 9813484
Sundry payables 82 328 BE 575
Payable to RURA for licence fees 27,430,890 -
Other liabilities 4,657 485 386,180
Dwidends payabla 3,081,593 3,939,830
Accrued expenses T.252248 89,507 802
60,261,395 34,504 112

The carrying amcunts of the above trade and other payables approximate their fair values due to
their short-term nature, Other creditors and accruals mostly relate to acoruals for goods received but
not invoiced, stalutory deductions, and other payables.

23(b) Mobile money payables

Amaunt relates to resiricied cash due o mobile money cusiomers.

86,769,068 66,269,873

24 Provisions
2021 2020
Rw 000 Rwi*000

Provisions
Bonus provision 878,094 1,332,101
878,094 1,332,101
Balance at Balance at
beginning Additional the end of
of year provisions Litilized Rewversals the year
— R 000 Rwf 000 RwfO00 Rwf0C0 Fwf 000
Bonus provision 1,332.101 1,300,000 (1754,007) 878,004
Balance at Balance at
beginning  Additional the and of
of year  provisions Utilised  Reversals thie year
Rwf 000 RwlDOD R 000 Rwf000 Qa0

2020

Bonus provision 1,567,768 1827585 (2,063,252) = 1332201
Decommissioning provision al L " ik
1,567,768 1,827,585 (2,063,252) 1,232,101
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Motes [continued)

24 Provisions (continued)

Bonus provisions represant a performance incentive paid to employees based on the achievernent
of key performance indicators. The provision for the year is basad on an estimate of a percentage

of each of the employess' annual basic salary,

Leases

This note provides information for leases where the Group is a lesses.

{1 Amounts recogmised in the balance sheel
The balance sheet shows the following amounts relating to leases:

2021 2020
Rwi"D00 Rwi'000
Right-of-use assets
Cellular network equipment 80,707.368 76,828,151
Motor vehicles 1,274,032 1,011,330
Office and sanvices centers 2157619 2892 857
84,138,019 80,530,138
Lease liabilities
Opening balance B8 547,893 78,385,072
Additions 14,883,079 14,803,466
Interest on lease liability 13,745,808 12 BE61,761
Lease repayments (22,276,982) _(18,592,606)
84,999,598 88,547,693
Non-current 65, 380,689 65,380,689
current __ 28618910 22 167,004
94,999,558 BE.547,693
i}  Amounis recognised in the stalement of profit or loss
The statement of profit or loss shows the following amounts relabing to leases:
2021 2020
Rwf" 000 Rwi'000
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets
Office and services centers 535,037 B35 03T
Cellular network eguipment 10,364 427 10,2417 807
Motor vehicles 634,844 487 541
11,534,323 11,264,385
Interest expense {included in finance cost) Note 8 13,240,606 11,511,726

The total cash outflow for leases in 2021 was Rwf 22,277 million (2020 — Rwf 18,583million)
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Notes (continued)
268 Motional share Scheme

The Company operates a Notional Share Schama, whare qualifying staff recaive a net increase in
the phantom Company share price at the period of exercising their options. The options under the
phaniom scheme are “cash settiad” rather than “equity seftied” under IFRS 2: Share based
payments. Effective 1 January 2014 the shares' vesting periods are; 100% on the third anniversary
after grant date with the maximumn period for the exercising of oplions being five years. The first lot
of qualifying staff were granied options by the Board on 1 April 2005 and the number s reviewed al
each grant date to determine any additional staff that may have qualified for the scheme since the
last issue. At 31 December 2021, the total liability arising from the Motional Share schema amounted
to Rwd 2, 795million (2020: Rwf 228million) for the qualifying staff,

The weighted average price of the shares exercised during the year was Rwf 26,771 per share
(2020; Rwf 12 456 per share).

Movements in number of share opfions outstanding are as follows:

2021 2020
Al 1 January 654 118
Granted 147 437
Forfeited 5 2B
Exercised 312 T2
At 31 Decemnber 1,118 654

Share options outstanding at the end of the year have tha following expiry date and exarcise
oplions:

2021
2022 158
2023 13
2024 B46
1,118

Lease commitments

The Group entered info a Master Lease Agreement with IHS Rwanda Holdings Limited to lease
tower space for the next 10 years. After the initial term, the Group has the right to renew the lease
for a maximum of 4 renewal periods of 5§ years each. The lease contract has an escalation clause
which states that from 1 January 2015 and on each anniversary thereafter the applicable use fea
and service credits shall be increased or decreased (compounded annually) in line with percentage
increase or decrease in the Consumer Price Index for the previous 12 manths period prior to the
relevant escalator date. See note 25 on lease accounting.

Capital commitments

Capital commitments at the balance sheet date not recognised in the financial staterments are as
Toliows:

2021 2020
Rwi"000 Rwi"000

Property, plant and equipment
Authorised and contracted for purchase of network equipment 5943058 3687820

60
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Motes (continued)

Contingent llabilities

The Group is a defendant of a number of other legal suits. In the opinion of the directors, after laking
appropriate legal advice, the oulcome of the actions will nol give rise to any significant cash out flow

to'the Group,
Cash generated from operations

Reconciliation of profit before income tax to cash generated from operations:

Profit before income tax

Depraciation (note 20)

Depreciation-right of use aszet

Amoisation (note 15)

Movement in provisions

Profit on sale of property. plant and equipment
Adjustment for non-cash items

Finance incorme {nota 8)
Finance costs (note 8)

Adjustments for finance charges
Cash generated bafore working capital changes

Decreasef{increase) in inventory
(Increase) decrease in trade and other receivables

Increase in IRL azsels
Decrease in intercompany deblors

(Decrease] increaase in shor term provisions
Decrease in frade and other payables

Increase in intercompany payables
{Decrease) /increase in deferred income
increasal| ga) in unearned Ncome
Net changes In working capital

Met cash generated from ocperations

2021 2020
Rwi000 Rwi'000
33,513,957 32,609,231
10,509,268 14,962,683
11534323 11284385
4,581,264 36,859
1,209,999 1,827,585
36,924,845 28091513
(1,801582)  (1,118,744)
22 AB5 748 17.208.102
20,584,155 16,179,358
91,022,958 76,880,102
(277,015) (475,590)

(2,973,398)
(8,422 476)

(1.429,890)
(3,204 495)

3,203,658
1,174,180)
(1,754007)  (2,063.252)

5,763,585
(3,207,019)
(7,859,920) 5,100,245
89,645 1,100
(561 581) 400,805
(5.828.912)  (14,044,862)

85,004,045 62,835,240
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Notes (continued) Eﬁfﬂ%f&ai&
31 Related party transactions | il

1
~

The Company's parent is MTHN International (Mauritius) Limited incorporated in Mauritius. The
ultimate parent and ultimate controlling party of the Cormpany is MTN Group Ltd, incorporated in
South Africa. The following transactions were carried oul with related parties, with whom the

Company has common shareholdings or common directorships:

i} Sale of zervices

2021 2020
Rwi000 Rwf'000
MTHN Liganda Limited - Interconnect Services 635,791 1,163,133
MTN Business Kenya- Leased linas 20,575 29,756
MTN Nigeria Communications Limited- Interconnect Senvicas 546 18721
MTHN Global Connect Solutions-Leased lines 2,778,681 3,019,618
Mobile Telephone Metworks (Pty) Limited - 28,200
3,435,593 4,260,438
ii} Purchases of services
Ee r'n IﬂtEI!TIEt'H:Iﬂ-EI Carier Services SA -Interconnect and 1,153 2 064
MTHN Ll ndia Limited - Interconnect R i
Sewrnag? 1T Shuired Serioes aind leassd e geroiame. 404,287 451,505
MTN Dubai Limited - Leased lines - 6,430
MTN Business Kenya Limited- Leased lines 90,765 85,328
MTH Global Connect Solutions- leased lines 5,758,491 4 313,472
Global Trading Company 32,916 866,981
6,287,614 5,725,841
iii) Management fees paid
MTH MTH
International  MTN REL International MTN REL
(Mauritiug)  (Mauritius) {Mauritius) (Mauritius)
Limited Lirnited Total Limited Limited Total
2021 2021 2021 2020 2020 2020
Rwef 000 Rwf 000 Rwi'000 Rwi"000 Rwi'000 Rwi'000
the management fees
are computed as
follows:
4% of revenue 7.562 B25 - 7.552 825 3266422 26GB35958 5,950,379
2% on Profit before
income tax 710417 - 710417 420965 312022 741,987
Total 8,263,242 - B,263,242 3,696,387 2,995980 6,692,366
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31 Related party transactions (continued)
iii) Management fees paid (continued)

Management and technical fees are in accordance with agreements between the Company and the
respective parties. The fees were based on 2% of revenue and 1% on Profit before income tax for
MTHN International (Mauritius) Limited and MTN REL (Mauritius) Limited up until November 2020,
From December 2020 MTN REL (Mauritius) Limited cease to recaive management feas, and MTMN
International (Mauritius) Limited fo recaived 4% of revenua and 2% of profit bafore income tax
inClusive of tax

2021 2020

hv) Interest expense Rwf000  Rwf000
MTN Dubai Limited 728 5,624
MTN Global Connect Solutions - -
MTN Uganda Limited - 17.198
Intarserve Overseas Limited - 10,208
758 33,027

¥} Dividends declared

MTHN International (Mauritius) Limited 5,810,000 3,822,500
MTN REL- Mauritius 2,550,000 1,737,500
Crystal Telecom Limited - 1,380,000
Shareholders listed in the Rwanda Stock Exchange 2,040,000 -

10,200,000 6,950,000

Purchases and sales of goods relate to voucher card sales and accessories as well as interconnect
and roaming charges amongst the various partners.
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Mates {continued)
31 Related party transactions (continued) it
vi) Qutstanding balances arising from sale and purchase of goodsiservices

a) Receivables from related parties

2021 2020

Rwf'000 Rwi"000

MTN Holdings Ltd g72 872
MTN Zambia Limited 1,684 1.894
MTN Uganda Limited 41,252 850,771
MTN Group Management Services [Py} Lid - 256,568
MTN Business Kenya 963 -
MTHN Namibia - 3,008
MTH Camercon - 33.052
MTH Guinea 8.212 -
MTH Ghana 8174 B.174
MTN Liberia 11.245 -
MTHN Migeria Communications Limited 3.158 3158
MTH Benin . 4 465
MTN Global Connect Sclutions- leased lines 452,748 -
MTN Afghanistan . 2,771,224
MTN OPCO 47,189 47,188
MTHN Guinea Bisgau 11,153 11,153
MTN International (Mauritius) Limited 2,032 B55 2,032 855

2,630,816 5,834,484

vi) Outstanding balances arising from sale and purchase of goodsiservices
b) Payables to related parties

2021 2020

Rwi*000 Rwi 000

MTN International (Mauritius) Limited 1,884 550 3.514,119
Belgacom International Carrier Services - 26,523
MTN Dubai Limited 50,783 117,694
Mabile Telephone Networks (Pty) Limited 23848 11,200
MTHN Uganda Limited 33,781 317 5688
MTN Group Management Services (Pty) Limited 3,374 280,031
MTH REL Limited 2,032 Ba5 2,032,855
Interserve Overseas Limited 147,700 2,921
MTN Business Kenya Limeted 7,714 14,458
MTN Namibia - 3,301
MTN Congo 4,355 4,355
MTM Ghana 50,942 53.208
MTH Global Connect Solutions 1,037,486 7,020,695
Global Trading Company Limited 47 438 152,745

5,362,934 13,553,24

Outstanding balances are unsecured and are repayable in cash
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31 Related party transactions (continued)
vilj Shareholder loan

Shareholder loan relates to an amount of Rwf 915m due to MTH REL. The loan is interest free
and repayable on demand. See note 12 for details.

viii)Key management compensation

2021 2020
Rwf'000 Rwf'000
Short term employee benefits 1,071,751 1,230,402
Post-amploymant banefits 70,382 79,568
Share based provisions 2,478,458 120,728
3,620,580 1,430,689
ix} Directors’ emoluments

2021 2020
Rw'000 Rwi™ 000

Directors’ fees
Mr. Faustin Mbundu 4,188 .
Michael Fleisher® - .
Adniaan Wessels™ - .
Patience Mutesi 8,567 .
Julien Kavaruganda 8,063 .
Yolanda Cuba** - -
Karabo Nondumo® - -
Mark Nkurunziza 103,140 09,320
Mitwa Mg“ambi 355217 333,368
Evelyn Kamagaju Rulagwenda 8,706 17,244
Regis Rugemanshuro 7,465 7.491
Mosipho Molope* - i
Ricardo Varziglas®* - -
Ebenezer Asante™ - -
Richard Tusabe - 3517
405,347 460,941

*Directors’ remuneration attributable to service provided to the company by the MTN Group Limited
nominatad independent directors during the year was Rwf000 84,334 (2020: Rwf000 41,764). These
amounts are paid out of the management fee disclosed in Note 31(iii).

**Directors that are employees of MTN Group Limited are not separately remunearated
2021 2020
o = Rwf'000 RwT000
x} Defined contribution provident fund e e

Employer contributions 290,603 258,560

Iiﬂ#bﬂiﬂl
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32 Going concern

The Group's forecasts and projections, taking account of reasonably possible changes in trading
performance, show that the Group should be able to operate within its cumrent funding levels,

After making enquiries, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. The Group therefore
continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

33 Retirement benefit plans

The Group set up a defined confributory provident fund scheme for its employees. The provident fund
i5 @ defined contribution fund and is designed to provide & lump sum on retirement and not a
guaranteed pension. The lump sum is dependent upon the investment performance of the fund. Both
employees and the Group contribute to the provident fund on a fieed contribution basis.

Under this plan, the Group does nol have any legal or constructive cbligation to pay further
conlributions if the fund does not have sufficient assets to pay all employees' benefits relating 1o the
employee service in the current or prior period. Consequently, no actuarial valuation of the fund is
requined.

34 Grants

Grant incoma comprises contributions (grants) from government or its agencies, to be utilized on
activities in public interest. Grants received for specific purposes are treated as deferred grants and
cradited 1o the statement of profit or loss as grant income when the activities for which they were
provided for have been undertaken.

Unexpended grants represent the unused designated/specific grants and are taken into
income when the related expenditura is incurred. Any unexpended grants are carried forward
as part of current grant liabilities and are utilized in the subseguent years.

35 Earnings per share

31 December Restated
2021 31 December 2020
Profit for the year attributable to equity sharehoiders Rwf000 22423613 20.228,772
VWeighted average number of shares for calculation diluted
and basic earning par shara 1,360 288 500 1,350.888,600
Earnings per shara:
Basic and diluted earnings per share — Rwf "000° 17 16

The basic and diluted earning per share for the prior year have been restated due to the change n
the weighted average number of shares in the year which was undertaken as part of the listing to
the Rwanda Slock Exchange on 4 May 2021 with no comresponding change in rescurces,
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36 Segment reporting Yok
a) Segment revenue and EBITDA .!'i'ETII_'..J prarC Reanda Limited

The executive committee primarily uses eamings h-efﬁ?&'ﬁmt;em taxes, depreciation and
amaortisation (EBITDA) to assess the parformance of the segments. Earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) reconciles to operating profit before income tax as follows:

Fintech Telecommunication Unallocated Total
Rwf "000" Rwf '000° Rwf '000° “Rwf 000"
Reveanuea 50,533,699 136,350,223 1,242 B30 188,126,752
Cost of sales {18,867.707) {13,367,369) = (32.235.0786)
Gross profit 31,665,092 122 982 854 1,242 B30 155,891,675
Operaling expensas (B,7683,201) (59 385 518) - (65, 168.719)
EBITDA 24,882,791 63,597,336 1,242,830 89,722 957
Depreciation and
armotisation {35,624 845) (35,624,845)
Finance income = 1,201,521 1,801,551
Finance cosis - [22485,745) (22,485,748)
Income tax expense . (11,090 344) (11,080,344)
Profit for the year 24 882,791 63,597,336 (66,056,514) 22423613

Mo individual customer comprises more than 10% of the Group's revenue. Revenue from external
custorners from inferconnect and roaming amounted to Rwf 5,853 million (2020; Rwf 5,502 milion)

b) Segment asseis

Segment assets are measured in the same way as in the financial statements. Thesa assels are
allocated based on the operations of the segment,

Fintech Telecommunication Unallocated Total
Rwef "000' Rwf 000’ Rwf "000' ‘Rwf *000'
Mon-current assets
Indefeasible rights of use
assets (IRUs) - - 8,230,572 B8.230,572
Intangible assets - - B6,854.513 BG,BE4, 513
Property, plant and
equipment 890,409 . 82,051,802 83,082 391
Right of use assats - - 84,130,019 B4,135.018
890,499 - 261,325,896 252 316,495
Current assets
Currant income tax i % 3,216,426 3,216,428
Indefeasible nghts of use
assets (|IRUs) - - 1,158,019 1,158,019
H!'E'l‘ﬂl:'tﬂd cash ﬁ.m.mﬁ - = B'Bl?EErME
Cash and cash equivalents 700,000 11,485,837 - 12,185,937
Deposits with financial
institutions - 10,220,458 - 10,220,458
IFventornes - 1,508,956 - 1,506,956
Trade and other recaivables - 39,738,185 - 35,738,185
B7.469,068 62,951,536 4,374,445 154,795,048

BT
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36 Segment reporting (continued)
a) Segment assets (continued)
Additions to non-current assets;
Property and equipment (note 20b)
Intangible assets (Note 19)

indefeasible rights of use assets (IRUs) (note 16)
Right of use assets {note 20b)

b) Segment liabilities

2021
Rwi'D00

32,751,832
91,438,329

4,298 265
15,143,204

2020
Rwf'000

21,077,750

9,269,934
14,811,808

Segmenl liabilities are measured in the same way as In the financial statements. These liabilities are

allocated based on the operations of the segment;

Fintech Telecommunication Unallocated Total
Rwf "000" Rwf "000' Rwf '000" ‘R "000"

Man-current liabilities
Deferred income fax & ¥, 14,159,020 14,185,020
Borrowings @ i 23,998,135 23,8589 135
Lease Rabilities . ¥ 66,380 589 665,380,680
- = 104,538,844 104,538 844

Current liabilities

Deferred revenue z 3,117,091 : 3,117.051
Borrowings = 3 7.273.625 7,213,625
Trade and other payables = 60,261,385 3 B0 261,395
Mobile money payables 86,760,068 - i 86,769,068
Provisions . a7e.0a84 " 878,094
Lease habilities . - 28618810 28,618,910
Shareholder loan ; . 215,000 215,000
Bank overdraft G577 918 6,577 818
B6,769,068 64,256,540 43,385,454 194,411,062

68
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a7 Investment in subsidiary

The Company’s principal subsidiary at 31 December 2021 is set out below. Unless othenwise stated,
they have share capital consisting solely of ordinary sharas that are held directly by the Company,
and the proportion of ownership interests held equals the voting rights held by the Company. The
country of incorporation or registration is also their principal place of business.

Place of business/ Ownership Intercompany

country of  interest held by Share capital loan Principal
Name of entity incorporation the group Rwi"000 Rwf'000 activities
Mobile Money Fintech
Rwanda Limited Rwanda 100% 200,000 500,000 services

i
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